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Useful contact information

If you would like to make any comments about this Annual Report, please contact:

Nick Hulme

Chief Executive

Trust Offices

East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust
Colchester General Hospital

Turner Road

Colchester CO4 5JL

01206 742527
communications@esneft.nhs.uk

Facebook: www.facebook.com/EastSuffolkNorthEssexNHS/
Twitter: @ESNEFT

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)

Our Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) offers confidential, on-the-spot advice and support to
help patients, relatives and other visitors to sort out any concerns they may have about their care.

You can contact PALS on Freephone 0800 783 7328 or by emailing pals@esneft.nhs.uk. Please state
whether your email is about Ipswich, Colchester Hospital or our community services.

We care, do you?

Becoming a member of our foundation trust gives you the opportunity to get involved in decisions that

affect the services that we provide to you and your family. Membership is open to anyone over the age of
16 who lives in our area.

To find out more, email ft. mnembership@esneft.nhs.uk, phone 01206 742347 or visit www.esneft.nhs.uk
and click on “get involved”.

General information and inquiries

Email: communications@esneft.nhs.uk

Full contact details and more contact information is available at www.esneft.nhs.uk

For a copy of this Annual Report in Braille, large print or foreign
language formats, please call 01473 704770


mailto:communications@esneft.nhs.uk
mailto:pals@esneft.nhs.uk
mailto:ft.membership@esneft.nhs.uk
http://www.esneft.nhs.uk/
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http://www.esneft.nhs.uk/
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Welcome

Message from the Chair

| would like to begin by expressing my sincere thanks to every
member of staff from Ipswich and Colchester hospitals, as well as
those based in our community services, who worked so hard to make
our merger during the summer a success. I've been hugely impressed
with their positivity and the way in which everyone has worked
together to create East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation
Trust (ESNEFT), and look forward to building on these strong
foundations to further improve the services we provide in the future.

We have made significant progress during our first months, including
appointing a new Board of Directors, as well as Executive and Non-
Executive Directors and a Council of Governors. We have also started
to offer some treatments closer to home, while creating ESNEFT and
becoming the largest NHS trust in East Anglia has also seen us
improve staff recruitment and retention.

We are ambitious and want to provide the very best care for the 800,000 people who rely on our
services. We want to be a sustainable and stable organisation which, along with our partners, plays a full
role in the development of our emerging integrated care system. We also have great ambitions for our
10,000 staff, and want to give them the chance to develop their careers, enhance their skills and have
the opportunity to take part in research, innovation and the development of cutting-edge technology.

In January, we published a draft strategy which sets out what we need to do to help us achieve these
ambitions and establishes a clear and exciting direction for our services over the next five years. The
strategy was developed with our staff, partner organisations and representatives of the communities we
serve, and was approved by the Board in April 2019. More information about the strategy, along with the
five strategic objectives which underpin it, is available on page 13.

There has been much to celebrate over the past year. National recognition of the major step forward we
have made in joining our two trusts came when we were awarded nearly £70m in capital funding to
redesign and improve the facilities from which we work, include emergency and urgent treatment and
diagnostic facilities at both Colchester and Ipswich hospitals. There were also plenty of other highlights:

o Work began on the £3.25m Collingwood Centre at Colchester Hospital. Once complete, the
centre will vastly improve the experience which cancer patients and their families and carers
have when coming into hospital by providing them with more modern, comfortable and
welcoming facilities. The project has been made possible thanks to fantastic support from the
local community, who have gone above and beyond to raise money for the building.

e Former surgeon Dame Clare Marx, who is now part of our leadership team, made history by
becoming the first woman to be appointed chair of the General Medical Council.

e A dementia-friendly sensory garden featuring an exercise area, pavilion and listening bench,
opened at Aldeburgh Hospital to help patients to recover so they can return home more quickly.

¢ Robots arrived at Ipswich Hospital to handle admin tasks, such as some GP referrals, in turn
freeing up hundreds of hours of medical secretaries’ time to spend helping patients.

e New technology was introduced at Colchester Hospital which cancels appointments automatically
in our patient record systems, in turn helping reduce the number of wasted outpatient
appointments.
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Ipswich Hospital’s cardiology department began offering a new ‘rotoblation’ procedure which
allows patients to receive treatment for extremely calcified coronary arteries without having to
travel to Papworth Hospital.

Nienke Warnaar, a consultant surgeon at Colchester Hospital, became one of just a handful of
clinicians from across Europe to be awarded the prestigious European Association for
Endoscopic Surgery fellowship.

Our community midwifery teams in east Suffolk were given new devices which test for jaundice in
newborn babies, allowing them to carry out the test during a home visit or in the community
rather than asking the family to come to hospital.

Plans to create a £7m combined interventional radiology and cardiac angiography unit at
Colchester Hospital were unveiled in January, allowing ESNEFT patients to be diagnosed more
quickly and receive care in a specialist suite.

Colchester patient Gerald Brown became the first person to be fitted with a heart monitor which
sits under the skin and talks to a smartphone, meaning he can be monitored at home and no
longer needs to go into hospital for check-ups.

Fordham Ward at Colchester Hospital was refurbished to provide brighter, more modern
surroundings to make patients’ stays less stressful.

Energy-saving LED lights, dementia-friendly flooring, wet rooms, a children’s playroom and
streamlined nurse stations were installed during a six-week transformation of Ipswich Hospital’s
Somersham cancer ward.

Plans to build a new drugs manufacturing facility worth more than £3million at Colchester
Hospital were unveiled, giving patients the chance to continue benefitting from tailor-made
medication, including chemotherapy drugs.

Work on a multi-million pound transformation of the main entrance at Colchester Hospital began.
The project will see the building extended, providing additional space for the emergency
department, while new visitor facilities will also be added to provide a welcoming, safe and
comfortable environment for people arriving at the hospital.

None of these achievements would be possible without the invaluable support of our staff, volunteers,
supporters, stakeholders, partners and the people we serve. My thanks go to you all.

L/ AN A

David White
Chairman
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Chief Executive’s overview and plans for the year ahead

Four days before the NHS celebrated its 70" birthday last
July, East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust
(ESNEFT) was created. It brought together Colchester and
Ipswich hospitals and a range of community services in east
Suffolk, along with around 10,000 staff who work together to
deliver care to 800,000 people from eight sites.

A huge amount of work went into making the merger a
success and ensuring that patients could continue to receive
high quality, kind and compassionate care while it took place.
My thanks go to all of our colleagues, volunteers, partners and
the community for their support during this time. Their hard
work has given us a strong foundation from which to build our
organisation and develop our ambitions for the future.

At the heart of all our work in preparing for and becoming a
new Trust was our philosophy that ‘Time Matters’. Dealing
with ill health is stressful, both for the patient and for those
caring for them. However, too often the complexity of the
health and care systems adds unnecessary stress. At the heart of this is time, which is important to
everyone, whether they are patients, family or carers or staff delivering care. Our Time Matters
philosophy was born from this concept — we will reduce the things we do which create unnecessary
stress for patients and families and which waste their valuable time. We want to improve services to
make every moment count so that we can offer the best care and experience.

We are also changing the way we think about providing care, concentrating on what patients need
instead of how hospitals work. We know that people do best when they’re at home, so our aim is to
provide support that keeps them close to home for as much of the time as possible, using hospitals only
when there is no alternative. This means working closely with the other parts of the health and care
system, such as GPs, mental health and community services providers, social care and voluntary
services, to break down the barriers which exist between organisations so that patients can receive truly
joined-up care. We will also give our colleagues in the community quicker access to advice and guidance
from specialists to reduce unnecessary admissions to hospital and allow better planning of longer-term
care once patients have been discharged.

All of this relies on us sharing information about patients. Significant work will go into linking our
technology together so that we can access patient information more easily, in turn meaning they only
need to tell their story once. Our online ‘patient portal’ will also allow patients to see the information we
hold about them, make and change appointments and provide a way of communicating directly with their
doctor to monitor ongoing conditions and reduce unnecessary journeys to hospital.

We will work to help people stay in control of their health through increased support for self-care and
physical and mental wellbeing. Our aim is also to provide direct access to our consulting and diagnostic
services so that people with suspected cancer, for example, don’t have to go through their GP.

When people do have to come to our hospitals, we will provide high quality care with the right level of
clinical expertise, improved buildings and facilities and safe systems and processes. We will reduce
waiting times for planned care and use technology to coordinate care more effectively. We will also
modernise our diagnostic and consulting services to provide care as efficiently and consistently as
possible, for example through providing more one-stop clinics.

To achieve all of these goals, it will be vital for us to support and develop our staff. Our aim is to do just
that by creating an environment which allows our people to thrive while helping us to retain and attract
the best staff.
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It is going to be an exciting year.

L,

Nick Hulme
Chief Executive

About this Annual Report

This is East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust’s first Annual Report and Accounts since the
Trust came into existence on 1 July 2018. As such, there is no comparative 2017/18 data available.
These figures will be included for the first time in our 2019/20 report.

The 2017/18 Annual Reports for our legacy organisations — Colchester Hospital University NHS
Foundation Trust and The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust — are available on our website, at
www.esneft.nhs.uk/about-us/annual-report-and-accounts/

A report for The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust, which covers the first quarter of 2018/19 until the merger in
July, has also been prepared and will be available on the Trust’s website.

10
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About us

History of the Trust

East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust (ESNEFT) was established in July 2018 and
brought together the two trusts which previously ran Colchester (Colchester Hospital University NHS
Foundation Trust) and Ipswich (Ipswich Hospital NHS Foundation Trust) hospitals and Ipswich East
Suffolk Community health Services.

As the two organisations had shared a leadership team since 2016, the next logical step was to fully
merge the trusts, in turn improving efficiency and reducing overheads and duplication. Bringing our
teams and resources together would also allow us focus on seeing patients at the right time, attracting
and keeping the best staff and providing the latest treatments locally.

The merger process took around two years to complete, during which we engaged with staff, patients
and partners and spent time assuring our regulators and stakeholders that we could deliver our aims.
We initially produced a strategic outline case in January 2017, followed by an outline business case in
August 2017 and the final business case, which was approved at the end of March 2018. All three
documents are available on our website, at www.esneft.nhs.uk/about-us/merger-of-colchester-and-
ipswich-hospitals/

We are excited about the possibilities that ESNEFT will offer our local residents and staff, and will
continue to engage with local people as the Trust develops over the months and years ahead.

The people we serve

We provide hospital and community health services to around 800,000 people living across a wide
geographical area. We deliver care from two main hospitals in Colchester and Ipswich, six community
hospitals, high street clinics and in patients’ own homes. We also provide a range of specialised
services, such as spinal surgery and prosthetics.

Our pathology services are provided by North East Essex and Suffolk Pathology Services (NEESPS)
which is a partnership of Ipswich, Colchester and West Suffolk hospitals and is hosted by our Trust.

We are the largest NHS organisation in the region and have an annual budget of more than £650 million.

We are also one of the biggest employers in East Anglia, and employed 10,045 people as 31 March
20109.

Time Matters

At ESNEFT, our philosophy is that time matters to everyone. Too often, our current systems and ways of
working add unnecessary stress and frustration. Across the Trust, we will concentrate on improving the
things we do and removing those which do not work or cause time delays for our staff and patients
throughout our day-to-day business.

During November, we arranged a week-long series of engagement events to share our philosophy,
ambitions and objectives, listening and working with our patients and staff to see what it meant to them
and how they could contribute.

The aim of Time Matters week was to:

11
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o start the conversation and create a social movement for all staff across the Trust to personally
contribute to Time Matters; and

¢ involve all staff, asking them to play their part in contributing to the vision and making sure every
contribution was valued.

The primary focus of the Directors during the week was to:

e be visible in supporting areas across the organisation;

e have face-to-face contact with teams to gain knowledge of areas outside of their day-to-day
responsibilities;

¢ to listen, observe, gently enquire, share expertise and to lead the ambition for the organisation
around Time Matters;

¢ to enable innovation, encourage ideas and empower and support people to release ‘non value-
added time’ and improve time to care;

e to build interconnectedness — i.e. what affects one of us affects us all; and

¢ to build ingenuity by telling people ‘there’s nothing we can’t achieve if we set our minds to it’, for
example.

Senior managers and service leads were asked to work across their teams, providing focused face-to-
face support to learn, observe, advise and empower staff to contribute to Time Matters.

Teams were encouraged to talk about what Time Matters meant to them and how/where they could
release time in their day to make life easier for themselves, their teams or their patients. Managers were
encouraged to link with the areas they cover throughout the week to learn and collectively work towards
improvements in accordance with our Time Matters philosophy.

This was a fully inclusive event and covered all teams across ESNEFT, both clinical and non-clinical. We
also sought our patients’ views via surveys and an interactive diary room.

Feedback

During the week, we collected feedback from a variety of sources, as detailed in the table below:

Method ' Data collected |
Manager’s survey 475 responses

Staff and patient survey 649 responses

‘Inflatapod’ video comments 176 videos

Ideas panel 66 ideas

Corporate fix-it sessions Around 200 drop-ins

When analysed, this feedback highlighted that:

we need to ‘get the basics right’;

staff want basic business processes that work;

staff want to be able to contact each other;

staff want IT equipment that works and assists and doesn’t hinder doing the job;

patients put up with delays as they are grateful to be seen and appreciate the wonderful

treatment they are receiving;

e our clinical processes often work against staff and patients, requiring duplicate data. The
value/purpose of some process steps is also not clear;

e car parking was the most frequent frustration for both patients and staff; and

e there is a reluctance from staff to raise issues or ideas, and give their names.

The feedback also showed that we frustrate our patients when:

e we invite them to multiple appointments, often for two minutes for them to be then told they need
to book another appointment for a diagnostic test; and

12
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e cancel clinics at the last minute and don’t inform them; they are not able to contact department to
change a booking.

Action taken

We have taken several actions after listening to this feedback, many of which are being driven by
individual services to make improvements within their own area. This includes investing in new PCs and
tablets to speed up IT for staff, creating additional car parking spaces for people using our sites and
giving colleagues the opportunity to keep their own contact details up-to-date on our intranet directory so
that they can get in touch with each other more easily.

Actions which cut across many services or affect corporate business processes have been incorporated
into a programme of work that is overseen by the Time Matters Board and fall into categories such as
use of resources, logistics and corporate transformation and elective care.

In addition, we are:

e bringing Time Matters to life each day by asking all staff to think about the impact their actions
have on others’ time;

e continuing to encourage an environment where all staff feel empowered to speak up about ideas
they have without judgement, giving them confidence to take responsibility for things they can
change themselves;

¢ following-up on the data received as actions distributed amongst the respective divisions. These
will be built into business plans for fixes that will take more planning;

¢ seeing Directors and senior managers continue to make time to listen and engage with teams;
and

¢ planning to schedule another Time Matters week in the summer of 2019.

13
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Performance Report

The Performance Report helps readers to assess how the Directors performed in their duty to promote
the success of the Trust. The report has been prepared in accordance with the relevant sections of the
Companies Act 2006, as interpreted in the Government Financial Reporting Manual. We have also taken
account of Monitor guidance and the Financial Reporting Council guidance on the Strategic Report
(November 2015) to ensure that the report is fair, balanced, understandable, comprehensive but concise
and forward-looking.

Statement of purpose and activities

Our vision and strategy

Since ESNEFT was created, we have developed a new strategy, which was published in January and
approved by our Board in April 2019. It was developed with our staff, partner organisations and
representatives of the communities we serve, and sets out a clear and exciting direction for our services
over the next five years.

Our ambition is to offer the best care and experience, and is supported by five strategic objectives which
will guide planning and investment:

Keep people in control of their health
Lead the integration of care

Develop our centres of excellence
Support and develop our staff

Drive technology enabled care

The document is aligned with national and local strategies, and recognises that we are part of a complex
system of health, care and wellbeing services and have key role to play in making sure that service
users can receive joined-up care. At its heart is our philosophy that time matters, and our drive to reduce
the unnecessary stress of navigating the system and free up time to focus on what matters most.

The challenges for our services, and the health and care system as a whole, are significant. This is due
to the growing and ageing population combined with shortages in some parts of the workforce.

To meet this challenge, we have to adopt new ways of working and achieve better coordination with
other parts of the system. Developing our staff by giving the chance to learn new skills lies at the heart of
this, along with introducing new roles at the Trust. Technology will also be key in helping us use
information well while making our services more accessible. Innovation in treatments and diagnostic
services are also needed to ensure we can continue to provide the highest quality services for local
people.

Our services

The Trust provides a range of patient services:

2018/19 |

Outpatient attendances** 1,020,435
Emergency Department (A&E) patients* 201,747
Inpatient and day case admissions** 190,435
Babies born 6,948

*Source: figures taken from Trust commissioned activity
A Qutpatient attendances include first, follow-up appointments and procedures carried out on an outpatient basis

14
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T Inpatient and day case admissions include day cases, electives, non-electives and regular day attenders

Key issues and risks
Key issues

The merger of Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust and The Ipswich Hospital NHS
Trust to create East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust took place on 1 July 2018. This has
created the largest Trust in the region, bringing opportunities to develop economies of scale and improve
organisational resilience.

Risks

The causes of the risks and the mitigating actions are described in more detail in the Annual Governance
Statement, which begins on page 91. In brief, the principal risks to the Trust’s strategic objectives are:

¢ Ineffective organisational management may not be able to fully mitigate the variance and volatility
in performance against the plan.

e |dentifying, measuring and delivering cost improvement opportunities and leveraging
transformational change, impact on delivery of control total, cash flow and long-term sustainability
as a going concern.

¢ Ineffective engagement of our staff on the improvement journey, which may limit the sustainability
of improvements made.

e Poor processes for recording activity, which may lead to information gaps

¢ Delay in transformation of pathology services, leading to suboptimal service impacting on patient
care and relationship with our partners.

¢ Insufficient nursing staff may lead to delayed or rushed care for patients and a poor patient
experience.

¢ Failure to transform through our strategy and its delivery so that we are unable to achieve long
term sustainability.

o If activity growth exceeds capacity assumptions based on the 2018/19 contract and legacy issues
are not addressed, then we may not have sufficient capacity to assess and treat people in a
timely manner.

Going concern disclosure

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. In accordance with IAS 1, management
has made an assessment of the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. For the financial year
commencing 1 April 2019 the Trust has forecast a deficit of £8.6million. Within this forecast is a cost
improvement programme requiring £31.9million of efficiencies and savings. In order to fund this deficit,
the Directors are seeking interim financial support for 2019/20 of £8.5million from the Department of
Health and Social Care. At the time of writing, an interim working capital loan facility of £170million has
been provided to the Trust and discussions are ongoing with regard to the further support required.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, have reasonable expectations that the Trust will have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. As directed by the
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018/19, the Directors have prepared
the financial statements on a going concern basis as they consider that the services currently provided
by the Trust will continue to be provided in the foreseeable future. On this basis, the Trust has adopted
the going concern basis for preparing the accounts.

15
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Performance analysis

This section provides more detail about the Trust’s performance and information on our most important
performance metrics, including finance, activity, quality and our future plans, including plans relating to
regulatory compliance.

Care Quality Commission (CQC) registration

For the period before the merger (1 April to 30 June 2018), Colchester Hospital University NHS
Foundation Trust (CHUFT) had in place registration with the CQC with no enforcement action.

On 1 July 2018, we successfully registered all ESNEFT regulated activities with the CQC by:

e registering The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust regulated activities to CHUFT registration;

e completing statutory notification to change the name of our organisation to East Suffolk and North
Essex NHS Foundation Trust;

e completing statutory notification to change the statement of purpose; and

e submitting statutory notification to cancel The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust registration to provide
all regulated activities;

e The CQC has subsequently archived The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust’s registration. Those
regulated activities which were acquired by CHUFT are currently stated as ‘not inspected’ and
therefore have no rating assigned by the CQC;

o Deregistered Essex County Hospital following closure in 2018;

Following the CQC'’s last inspection of CHUFT in 2017, the Trust was rated as ‘requires improvement’. In
2018/19, we continued to progress priority actions from the CQC requirement notices from both
predecessor organisations.

East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust has unconditional registration with the CQC with no
enforcement action. In line with the CQC inspection framework, we anticipate an inspection of our core
services, use of resources and well-led in 2019/20.

Further detail on the quality of care can be found in the Quality Report (section C).

NHSI enforcement undertakings

The S106 improvement notice issued to Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust by NHSI
in January 2018 remained in force throughout 2018/19. This recognised that the Trust had not yet
achieved sustainable improvements in its operational performance against the cancer 62-day standard,
ED and referral to treatment time targets. Throughout the year, we have continued to focus on improving
our performance in these areas against the agreed trajectories, with regular reporting to NHSI.

We plan to carry out a self-assessment during 2019 to assess East Suffolk and North Essex NHS
Foundation Trust’s leadership against the NHSI Well-Led Framework. This will include a review of risk
management and Board to ward effectiveness.

Financial outlook

2018/19 was a significant year regarding the scale of the Trust’s accountability for NHS resources. The
turnover of our newly-formed Trust grew from £344m as Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation
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Trust to £624.3m as ESNEFT at the end of the financial year. Both legacy Trusts were deficit
organisations and the establishment of ESNEFT was expected to initially maintain this deficit position,
before the full benefits of the merger were realised. During the year it was also necessary for us to
instigate a significant financial recovery programme as ESNEFT was not performing in-line with the
financial plans agreed at the start of the year, which would have resulted in a substantial unplanned
deficit.

Before financial adjustments related to the merger (‘transfers by absorption’), ESNEFT incurred a deficit
of £8.4m which was better than plan. This includes £31.3m of support from the Provider Sustainability
Fund (PSF), which was set up in 2017/18 by NHS Improvement to support providers to move to a
sustainable financial footing based on their financial and operational performance. This non-recurrent
funding was awarded to the Trust for first achieving our agreed financial plan and then for ED
performance. Under the 2019/20 guidance, the maximum PSF support our Trust can achieve in the
coming financial year is £11.4m.

After financial adjustments related to the acquisition, the Trust is reporting a surplus for the year of
£33m. This incorporates £41.4m of gains arising from the transfer by absorption of The Ipswich Hospital
NHS Trust. The value of this transfer represents the value of the net assets and liabilities transferred
from the date of acquisition.

Cost improvement programme

During 2018/19, our ambition was to deliver a cost improvement programme (CIP) of £40.5m. The scale
of this target was unprecedented, but was necessary for the Trust to gain support from the Provider
Sustainability Fund. Although we successfully achieved savings of £30.2m during the financial year, only
£16m of these were recurrent, which leaves us with an underlying cost improvement challenge in
2019/20.

A CIP target of £31.9m is required to meet our planning requirements during 2019/20. This represents
4.5% of turnover. It is higher than planned in the merger business case (2.6%) because of the low level
of recurrent savings delivered in 2018/19 and a number of financial pressures not planned for within the
approved merger business case.

A range of measures have been implemented using the Model Hospital and outputs from the ‘Getting it
Right First Time’ programme. Following financial recovery measures during 2018/19, we are maintaining
financial grip and controls, with a particular focus on agency staffing expenditure and a financial
improvement regime.

Looking ahead to 2019/20

During the coming year, we will continue to develop our clinical strategy while retaining a focus on the
financial implications of strategic changes. We are continuing to progress our detailed financial
modelling, particularly in relation to the capital investment approved as part of the national Wave Two
investment programme during 2018/19.

The requirements of the NHS Long Term Plan, which was published in January 2019, set out the need
for trusts which are in deficit to be back in balance by 2023/24. To help us achieve this, we will develop a
sustainable financial recovery plan and expect to receive £14.8m of Financial Recovery Funding as a
result.
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Cash funding

Due to the scale of the deficit from previous years, the Trust continues to be reliant on Department of
Health and Social Care funding through a government loan arrangement. For 2019/20, we will seek
external cash financing of £8.5m via the Department of Health and Social Care.

NHS Improvement will review our plans to ensure that financial support is provided only for the
necessary costs of running a safe organisation. Discretionary spending and investments will be reviewed
as part of the conditions of accessing funding from the Department of Health and Social Care.

The Trust will also need to abide by other conditions, such as the use of capital, which means we will be
under increased scrutiny financially and will face constraints in our ability to incur significant costs or
capital commitments.

Long term planning

Longer term, the Trust will need to do more than deliver cost improvement plans and efficiency savings
to return to a financially sustainable position and improve standards of care.

We are currently producing a pre-consultation business case setting out the options for ESNEFT to
develop sustainable clinical services in the long term, and expect to consult with the public on this
document during 2019/20. This clinical strategy will consider ways to address increased demand and
pressure on services caused by a growing population, changes in demographics and increasing
prevalence of long-term conditions.

The Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System (ICS) was established during 2018/19. The
King’s Fund have been supporting the ICS to consider future governance arrangements which will allow
it to take forward planning at a neighbourhood, alliance and system level.

Financial accountability is expected to be held at an alliance level. ESNEFT straddles the North East
Essex Alliance and the Ipswich and East Suffolk Alliance.

Financial performance

The Trust's accounts for 2018/19 have recorded a surplus of £33million. This includes £41.4m gains
arising from transfers by absorption resulting from the acquisition of The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust on
1 July, when ESNEFT was formed. As such, the assets, liabilities and ongoing operational income and
expenditure form part of these accounts from this date.

Acknowledging that the growth in income and expenditure significantly increased due to the in-year
transaction, all of the comparisons represent a material change.

As a result of its overall performance in 2018/19, the Trust received £31.3m from the Sustainability and
Transformation Fund (an increase of £11m compared to 2017/18). The Sustainability and
Transformation Fund is to be distributed to providers to support movement to a sustainable financial
footing.
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2018/19 £Em  2017/18 £m

Total Operating Income (included in EBITDA) 623.6 343.5
Total Operating Expenses (included in EBITDA) -610.7 -336.9
Depreciation and amortisation -16.9 -8.2
Non-operating costs -4.4 -2.7

Gains arising from transfers by absorption

*EBITDA is Earnings Before Interest, Taxation, Depreciation and Amortisation

Consolidated accounts

Colchester Hospital Charity was merged with the Ipswich Hospital Charity with a single registration under
the Charity Commission to form Colchester and Ipswich Hospitals Charity. The Trust has not
consolidated the activities of the charity, whose activities are not considered to be material.
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Innovation and excellence

We support a wide range of advanced skills training, innovation and industry collaboration to improve the
quality of the services we provide and the experience our patients have of receiving care.

In July we established a new innovation team which supports staff who have innovative ideas with
advice and funding applications, as well as linking up with external support networks. We have also
established an innovation network to provide a community which nurtures budding entrepreneurs.

Our clinical services continue to develop new and better ways to serve our local communities, such as:

e Stroke telemedicine — equipping ambulances with video equipment to allow our specialists to
assess people at home, speeding up diagnosis.

e Stroke ambulance — trials of a special ambulance equipped with a mini CT scanner, which will
allow strokes to be diagnosed and even treated before the patient reaches hospital.

¢ Diabetes service — which won two National Quality in Care awards for their innovations in care
and patient education.

o Hospital at night — which has seen a smartphone app called WatchPoint developed to ensure
patients receive safe care at night and the weekends. Developed by our in-house software team,
the app helps to identify patients at risk and improves the handover of important information.

e Intensive care — which is using a new system called CareVue which allows all the information
about intensive care treatment to be recorded electronically, including automatic collection of
data from monitors, ventilators and syringe pumps. This increases the quality of care and makes
the records accessible instantly.

¢ Outpatients — we are now using ‘virtual workers’ to speed up some of the administrative
processes around managing outpatient appointments. This frees up our staff to give more time to
patients.

¢ Children’s services — we have introduced the ‘Little Journey’ app to help children prepare for a
stay in hospital. It allows them to take a virtual tour of the department and meet the staff, while
explaining what they can expect to happen in a child-friendly way.

We are also continuing to expand education and training for staff and people who may want a career in
healthcare, and have dedicated simulation facilities at both Colchester and Ipswich hospitals which allow
our staff to practice their skills in a realistic but completely safe environment. Other innovations to take
place within education include:

o offering drop-in laparoscopic simulation training for surgical trainees;

¢ providing international courses and conferences in advanced surgical techniques, including
video-casts of eminent surgeons operating from around the world and from our hospitals to
surgeons across the globe;

o offering a highly successful course to help pre-registration nurses prepare for the Objective
Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE);

¢ Running schools’ engagement programmes and intensive courses in our hospitals; and

e increasing the number and range of apprenticeships available at ESNEFT, including new
opportunities in IT and communications.

In addition, the Iceni Centre at Colchester Hospital remains one of only five across the world to be
accredited by the Royal College of Surgeons as an Advanced Surgical Skills Centre.
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Operational service standards

Emergency department (A&E) four-hour standard

The Trust recorded a performance of 91.3% against the national standard of 95%.

National access standards

Our performance against the challenging national access standards between April 2018 and 31 March
2019 was:

- Standard ___ Performance _

Maximum waiting time of two weeks from urgent GP referral to

first outpatient appointment for all urgent suspected cancer 93% 91.7%
referrals

Tyvp-week wait for symptomatic breast patients (cancer not 93% 29.1%
initially suspected)

All cancers: 62.—day wait for the first treatment from national 90% 88.0%
screening service referral

All cancers: 62-day wait for the first treatment from urgent GP 85% 75 304
referral to treatment

All cancers: 31-day wait from diagnosis to first treatment 96% 96.1%
All patients who have operations cgncelled fqr non—cllnlcal 100% 93.3%
reasons to be offered another binding date within 28 days

Perc_entage of patients on an |n<_:omplete pathway with a 9204 88.5%
maximum of 18 weeks waiting time

MRSA 0 1
Incidence of Clostridium difficile infection 18 56
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Research and development/ innovation

We are fully committed to research which improves the quality and experience of care for local people.
Since our merger, we have increased the range of clinical specialties carrying out active research, and
saw 28 departments taking place during 2018/19, with 129 principal investigators leading the projects.

We meet our NHS Constitution duty to offer patients the opportunity to be involved in research and now
involved the third highest number of patients in research of any organisation in the east of England. This
has been reinforced by our new Trust strategy, developed after the merger, which places research and
innovation at the heart of our ambition to offer the best care and experience.

A new leadership team has been appointed this year, while the governance arrangements for research
have been refreshed for the new, multi-hospital organisation. Representation at the Trust Board is
through the Director of Strategy, Research and Innovation.

Our Trust is a member of the NIHR Clinical Research Network: Eastern (CRNE), which is responsible for
effectively delivering research in the east of England. The majority of funding for our research activity
flows through CRNE, with just over £1.6m allocated for research staff and supporting activity during
2018/19. This funding supports 35.5 WTE research posts.

We are also actively building links with academic institutions in the region and internationally. Over time,
this will increase the opportunities for people to be involved in basic science research.

The Trust is a member of the University of Suffolk’s Centre for Health and Wellbeing’s research board
and of the Eastern Academic Health Science Network (EAHSN), which promotes and supports the
application of research into practice. Through the Suffolk and North Essex Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership, we also participate in the University College London Partner’'s Academic
Health Science Network, which is based in north London.

In addition, we have joined the University of East Anglia’s Health and Care Partnership (UEAHCP),
which is a local collaboration for research and innovation, and signed collaborative agreements with two
hospitals in China, which include research.

Our staff also regularly produce conference abstracts and papers for academic journals which
demonstrate the importance of research across our Trust.

Maximising engagement in research

This year we have involved 2,645 new people in ethics committee-approved research. Of these, 2,615
were recruited into NIHR portfolio studies. This means that we involved the third highest number of
people in research of any organisation in CRNE, with only teaching hospitals recruiting more.

Involvement in research offers significant benefits, including improved outcomes. It is also part of our
commitment to improving the quality of care we provide while making a wider contribution to health
improvement. Examples of projects our patients have taken part in this year include an international
study which evaluated the effectiveness of using UrgoStart dressings to treat diabetic foot and leg ulcers.
The dressings, which are associated with faster wound healing, were subsequently recommended by
NICE as an option for treating patients.

Our patients were also involved in a two pivotal studies which brought ibrutinib into practice to treat
chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and small lymphocytic lymphoma. We were one of only a handful of sites
in the UK to be given the opportunity to participate in both studies, which gave our patients the chance to
access ibrutinib before its general approval.

We are also keen to initiate research at our Trust. One example of this is an interventional study called
MAVEN (Management of People with Venous Ulceration: Feasibility Study). This study compares the
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effectiveness of standard bandaging compared to a device called Juxta-Cures in managing people with
venous ulceration. We have now closed the study after recruiting our 40th patient and will be informing
everyone who took part of the results later this year.

Research governance

All research is delivered in accordance with the Research Governance Framework for Health and Social
Care (2005). This sets out the research governance standards which all organisations should apply to
work managed in a formal research context.

We ensure that all of our research has undergone robust governance, and Trust assurance is required
before any research can start at the organisation. All studies on the NIHR portfolio have been through
quality assurance processes to ensure compliance with good practice.

Staff undertaking research activity should be trained in International Conference Harmonisation — Good
Clinical Practice (ICH-GCP), which is valid for two years, to make sure that best practice is maintained.

The Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) also regulate research practice and
undertake periodic site inspections, with the last taking place at our Trust during 2017/18.

Performance metrics
The CRN Eastern high level objectives (HLOs) for research in 2018/19 were:

HLOZ1: Number of participants recruited into NIHR CRN portfolio studies

HLO2a: Commercial sites recruiting to time and target (RTT)

HLO2b: Non-commercial studies achieving RTT

Value for money: Activity-based funding model using a study complexity weighted score to
determine budget setting.

The NIHR continues to publish outcomes against national benchmarks. The Trust holds one of these
contracts — NIHR: Performance in Initiating and Delivering (PID) Clinical Research. These outcomes
include an initial benchmark of 70 days or less from the time a provider of NHS services receives a valid
research application to the time when that provider recruits the first patient for that study (performance in
initiating clinical research). It also includes the NHS provider’s performance in recruiting to time and
target for commercial contract clinical trials (performance in delivery of clinical research).

These reports are available by visiting
www.nihr.ac.uk/research-and-impact/nhs-research-performance/crn-performance/key-statistics.htm

Life sciences industry

The NIHR promotes industry studies, which are adopted onto its portfolio via an expression of interests
system. The Trust receives expressions of interest from CRN Eastern which are reviewed locally to
determine their feasibility. Additionally, through clinicians and research associations with industry, the
Trust has been pre-selected for industry studies.

Income received from life sciences industry research contributes to our research infrastructure and is
reinvested into research activities. We are also able to offer early access to new medicines as a result of
industry sponsors supplying trial drugs free of charge.

Collaborations with life sciences partners during the past year include manufacturing NutLife, a peanut
protein immunotherapy treatment, and the Iceni Centre, which is our advanced surgical skills centre.
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Environmental sustainability

We take our responsibility as a major employer and consumer of energy and resources seriously, and
are committed to continuous improvement in reducing the adverse effects of our operations on the wider
environment and the health of local people. We recognise the impact of our operations on the local and
global environment and are committed to demonstrating leadership in sustainable development.

Sustainable development can be achieved only in conjunction with the wider community. As such, we
have joined Colchester Travel Plan Club and are actively exploring how we can work more effectively
with other local organisations. We also regularly promote sustainable modes of transport to staff at all of
our sites.

The Director of Estates and Facilities is the Trust’s Executive lead for sustainable development and
carbon reduction.

Sustainability strategy

Following our merger, ESNEFT has two Board-approved Sustainable Development Management Plans
(SDMPs) in place which are broadly consistent with the NHS Sustainable Development Strategy 2014-
2020.

The plans identify the ways in which the Trust’s activities impact on the environment and look to provide
a framework for measuring improvement in each area. Work is currently taking place to combine these
two documents into a single Trust-wide plan.

Activities in 2018/19

We have carried out a number of activities to address specific objectives in the SDMPs over the past 12
months. In particular, we invested additional funds in replacing fluorescent lighting with LED fittings,
which will continue into 2019/20. We are planning to equip this lighting with automatic controls to further
improve the carbon savings.

We have implemented our Travel Planning and Car Parking Management Strategy at Colchester
Hospital, and plans to roll the strategy out to Ipswich Hospital during the coming year.

Work to replace old inefficient chillers at Colchester Hospital has begun, and has also given us the
opportunity to revise plant layouts, remove historic system inefficiencies and replace ancillary equipment
in order to make the new systems as efficient as possible. Improvements are also planned at Ipswich
Hospital, where we will displace the electric chillers through the use of absorption chillers connected to
the steam network.

Energy

The Trust’s carbon emissions decreased in 2018/19, driven by the work to change in light fittings to LED
and the review of operating plant and associated equipment.

In 2015, the Colchester site moved away from its ‘green’ electricity tariff as these tariffs are regarded as

having no impact on overall carbon emissions under modern environmental reporting principles. Instead,
the Trust has chosen to focus its efforts on energy efficiency to achieve carbon reductions.
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Resource ‘ 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Use

Gas (kWh) | 34,188,424 30,808,829 35,334,914 34,605,401 33,995,271
tCOe | 7,173 6,448 7,385 7,207 6,255
Use

Oil (KWh) 1,161,491 644,657 1,406,948 474,999 334,617
tCOe | 372 206 446 109 93
Use

Electricity | (kWh) [ 14,707,497 22,006,469 29,353,175 27,598,731 28,549,523
tCO2e | 9,109 12,652 15,170 12,301 8,770
Use

Green | wwh) |13,345551 | 7,078,886 441,766 1,267,547 200,774

electricity
tCOze | 8,265 4,070 0 0 0

Total energy COze | 24,919 23,375 23,000 19,618 15,118

We will invest further in energy-saving measures in 2019/20, and will continue to replace fluorescent
lighting with LED lights and fans and pumps with modern energy-efficient models. The boiler plant will
also be optimised.

Carbon emissions — energy use
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Carbon reduction target

Through the various schemes implemented to date, together with the steady closure of our historic
buildings, we have achieved the 2020 carbon reduction target ahead of schedule and will now begin
plans for achieving the 2025 target.
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Water consumption

Water consumption has decreased to its lowest level to date, however additional buildings at both
Colchester and Ipswich over the next two to three years will see this figure rise again.

2014/15

2015/16
251,358
229

2016/17
270,605
246

2017/18
248,286
226

PAONRSTMRS)
220,691
217

m3
tCO.e

250,807
228

Mains
Water

Renewable energy

Colchester Hospital has two sets of solar photovoltaic (PV) panels, which generated a total of
29,061kWh during 2018/19, reducing the amount of grid-supplied electricity used by the Trust and
generating income.

Ipswich Hospital made use of its biofuel plant during the winter to generate 171,713kWh of electricity
from a renewable source.

Clinical waste from both hospitals is incinerated on site at Ipswich, with the heat recovered used to
provide heating and hot water, meaning much less gas is used than at other equivalent hospitals. This
reduces our carbon emissions by more than 3,500 tonnes. Plans are underway to make use of this heat
during the summer, when it is normally discharged into the atmosphere, to provide cooling in place of
electric chillers.

Waste

Waste proportions have changed in recent years in line with the transfer of services from Essex County
Hospital to Colchester Hospital and into the community.

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
. |(tonnes) 460.36 256.61 366.12 242.07
Recycling
tCOze 9.67 5.13 7.69 5.27
Other (tonnes) 266.94 179.83 32.26 24.28
recovery [tCOe 5.61 3.60 0.68 0.53
High (tonnes) 233.94 268.52 246.60 295.78
temp
disposal |tCO.e 51.47 58.81 54.25 65.07
Landill (tonnes) 413.50 339.92 417.22 457.15
tCOze 101.07 83.08 129.34 157.48
Total waste (tonnes) 1374.74 1044.88 1062.20 1019.28
% Recycled or re-used [33% 25% 34% 24%
Total waste tCO»e 167.81 150.62 191.96 228.35
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Waste breakdown
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Travel

The Trust has formed a travel, access and parking group which will discuss and set targets, as well as
reviewing and monitoring the progress we make towards increasing sustainable travel. This will include
our drive to decrease single car occupancy and offer more sustainable forms of transport for all ESNEFT
staff and visitors.

During the year, we have offered subsidies on bus and rail fares, and plan to build new cycle storage
facilities and staff showers at both acute hospital sites and a new dedicated travel centre for staff and
patients at Colchester.

Procurement

We also look to reduce our energy consumption through careful equipment purchasing, such as by
installing new pedestrian crossings which are solar powered. Our estates department continually reviews
and adds to our standard materials list, which includes energy efficiency is one of its key criteria.

The sustainability of all of our planned new builds and refurbishments is considered during the business
case approval process.

Social, community and human rights issues

Our place in the community

As an NHS provider and employer, the Trust operates within the requirements of UK and European law,
including its responsibilities for equity of access to services, employment and opportunities.

We also operate within the NHS Constitution and have employment and service policies in place which
address equality and human rights issues.

Information to, and consultation with, employees

The Trust has consulted with staff to implement organisational change, including mergers and where

services have been redesigned or are being transferred either to or from an external service provider.
Where formal consultation is necessary, the Trust is very careful to ensure that communication takes
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place before the formal consultation period. Once that period is closed, informal communication and
consultation continue while any change is introduced.

Throughout any period of consultation and change, staff are given the opportunity for both individual and
group communication in a variety of forums with the aim of supporting harmonious change for the staff
affected and, ultimately, the service provided to patients. This is supported by our recognised unions.

The intranet and email system are also used as rapid methods of communication, while screensavers
are also to share simple messages.

There is an established regular briefing by the Chief Executive and members of the Executive team
which is cascaded through the organisational management structure. The Board encourages managers
to engage with staff members in changing and improving the way in which services are provided.

Equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI)

Our Trust is committed to making sure that our staff and patients feel valued and included and are
treated fairly and respectfully. This commitment is included within our stared values and expectations of
conduct, which all of our staff have a responsibility to support.

To ensure we meet our responsibilities, we have set up an Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Steering
Group to provide assurance to committees and the Trust Board. The group has set its agenda for the
coming 12 to 18 months, and will focus on:

accessible information standard
EDI induction / training

equality impact assessments
LGBT+ programme

workforce race equality scheme
workforce disability equality scheme
compliance

Equality Delivery System 2

The Equality Delivery System2 (EDS?2) is the national framework which supports NHS trusts to deliver
better outcomes for patients and communities and better working environments for staff which are
personal, fair and diverse. Like all NHS organisations, ESNEFT uses the Equality Delivery System
(EDS2) to implement its equality and diversity strategies and deliver its Public Sector Equality Duty.

At the heart of the EDS2 are four goals, which are:

better health outcomes

improved patient access and experience
a representative and supported workforce
inclusive leadership

A key part of EDS2 includes recruiting patients, staff and representatives from local interest groups to
help evaluate our current position and identify ways to progress.

We plan to review and refresh our EDS2 during 2019/20.

LGBT+ Network

Our LGBT+ Network was set up by staff volunteers, who represents the interests of LGBT+ staff and
service users at ESNEFT. Its aims are to:
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e Engage in positive change in the workplace, which will allow all LGBT+ staff to excel in a
supportive and non-discriminatory work environment; and
e Ensure that patient services are welcoming, non-judgemental and meet the healthcare needs of

the LGBT+ community.

Our LGBT+ Network has gone from strength to strength this year, with the progress it has made
acknowledged in January when the team were presented with an ESNEFT commendation by Chief

Executive Nick Hulme.

Workforce race equality standard

The NHS workforce race equality standard (WRES) was introduced on 1 April 2015. It aims to ensure
employees from black and minority ethnic (BME) backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities

and receive fair treatment in the workplace.

The Trust measures progress against nine indicators of workforce race equality which focus on any
differences between the experience and treatment of white and BME staff. This also marks the level of
BME representation at senior management and Board level, and helps to plan evidence-based action.

The overall performance on the WRES is of a mixed picture, with both improvements and some

deterioration.

WRES indicators 2016 2017 2018
BME 8.91% 8.50% 10.85%
1. Percentage of staff in each of the AFC IHT White 77.97% | 74.61% | 75.33%
bands 1-9 and VSM (including Board Unknown | 13.12% | 16.89% | 13.81%
members) compared with the percentage of
staff in the overall workforce CHUFT | White | 82.40% | 82.00% | 80.80%
Unknown | 2,.90% | 2.60% 2.50%
13.74% 13.74% 18.15%
2. Relative likelihood of white applicants bein AT White 24.02%  29.62% | 26.14%
abpointed from shortlisting acropsz all posts ’ LUnknown | 0.00% L 0.00% | 19.30%
compared to BME applicants 15.00%_15.08% __Notknown
CHUFT | White 19.00% | 19.15% | Not known
Unknown | 0.00% | 0.00% Not known
BME 0.88% 0.82%  0.84% |
o _ IHT White 0.81% | 0.74% 0.68%
3. Relative I|_ke!|h_ood of BME staff entering Unknown | 0.00% | 0.00% 0.13%
the formal disciplinary process compared to
white staff 0.90% 1.35%  Notknown
CHUFT | White 0.70% | 1.14% Not known
Unknown | 0.00% | 0.00% Not know
BME 0.00% 0.00%  4.40% |
IHT White 0.00% | 0.00% 4.35%
4. Relative likelihood of BME staff accessing Unknown | 0.00% | 0.00% 4.34%
non-mandatory training and CPD 10.50% 10.01%
CHUFT | White 5.80% | 5.90% 0.00%
Unknown 0.00% | 0.00% 0.00%
5. Percentage of BME staff experiencing IHT 39.13% 33.33%  22.73%
harassment bullying or abuse from patients,
relatives or the public in the last 12 months* CHUFT VIS 33.00% 30.00% 29.57%
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White 36.00% | 27.81% | 28.21%
o p t ¢ BME staft o HT BME 43.48% 25.64%  31.25%

. Percentage o staff experiencing White 9 0 9
harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in _
the last 12 months* CHUFT 2 2 .

26.00% | 27.16% | 28.42%
7. Percentage of BME staff believing that the | IHT p 61 = 81 =

. Percentage o staff believing that the White 9 0 0
trust provides equal opportunities for career _
progression or promotion* CHUET 0 0 0

82.86% | 77.88% | 80.72%
o p t CBME staff ' 4T 13.04% 12.82% 11.43%

. Percentage o staff personally Wh te 0 _0 _°
experiencing discrimination at work from a 1/ 3/ 2/
manager/team leader or other colleagues* CHUFT 2 0 0

|White [ 5.80% | 7.94% | 6.05%
(SME__0.00% ___0.00%____0.00%
IHT Whlte 70.60% | 100.00% | 100.00%
. Unknown | 29.40% | 0.00% 0.00%
9. BME board membership BME 270%  6.70% 15.40%
CHUFT | White 85.60% | 86.70% | 76.90%
Unknown | 6.70% | 6.70% 7.70%

* The results marked with an asterix have been taken from the 2017 NHS Staff Survey.

Development sessions on the WRES were delivered at a senior leadership conference during the
summer and were very well received. Plans are in place to roll these out as ‘bite-size’ development
sessions for all staff during 2019/20.

The WRES priorities for the year ahead will include a focus on:
data collection from our existing processes and systems
enabling and empowering our internal experts

reverse mentoring

recruitment

external benchmarking and networking

Gender pay gap reporting

The Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 2017 introduced gender pay
reporting legislation, which requires organisations with 250 or more employees to publish statutory
calculations every year identifying the pay gap between male and female employees.

There are six gender pay gap indicators, which all NHS trusts report upon:

Average gender pay gap as a mean average

Average gender pay gap as a median average

Average bonus gender pay gap as a mean average

Average bonus gender pay gap as a median average

Proportion of males receiving a bonus payment and proportion of females receiving a bonus
payment

e Proportion of males and females when divided into four groups ordered from lowest to highest
pay

The gender pay gap is different to equal pay. Equal pay relates to the differences between individuals or
groups performing the same or similar work. It is unlawful to pay people unequally because of their
gender.
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Gender pay gap has a focus on the differences between the average earnings for all men and all women
within the workforce, regardless of their level or role within the organisation.
Local findings

As the snapshot date for analysis is 31 March 2018, the following sections provide a breakdown of the
information reported by the separate NHS organisations pre-merger.

Data must be submitted to 1 decimal point. For differences in rates of pay and bonuses, a positive
percentage indicates that men in the Trust receive a higher rate than women.

Bonus pay for this purpose relates to clinical excellence awards for medical staff.

Each part time worker counts as one employee for gender pay gap reporting purposes.

The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust

Gender Average hourly rate

Median hourly rate

Male 21.8298 16.2237
Female 15.1195 14.0563
Difference 6.7103 2.1674

2018 pay gap % 30.7393 13.3595
2017 pay gap % 32.3424 17.2895

Bonus pay

Gender

Male

Average pay

12,294.04

Median pay

9,040.50

Female 5,252.53 2,862.81
Difference 7,041.51 6,177.69
2018 pay gap % 57.28 68.33

2017 pay gap % 21.53 0.00

The reason for the high % rate for the pay gap for 2018 is due to the number of female staff who
received a bonus this year, which increased from nine in 2017 to 14 at 31 March 2018. These five
additional female colleagues are in the first year of receiving their Clinical Excellence Awards and are
therefore at the lower end of the bonus scale, in turn lowering the average pay value:

The Trust appoints a Local Awards Committee (LAC) to oversee the awards process and following
appointment to the panel, training is provided on how to score applications following set guidance by
NHS Employer/BMA. All applications are reviewed independently and confidentially by the panel
members using the guidance documentation, once the scores are received by the Coordinator these are
collated and ranked to provide a view of the initial application rankings; the aggregate scores for each
domain and ranked total scores are available to all members at the formal award panel meeting.
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In advance of the LAC meeting, a pre-meet is held with the Medical Director, HRD, Head of Medical

Staffing and LCEA Coordinator to review the final application scores and highlight any outlying scores for

further review at the LAC. As a benchmark of excellence, applications are required to achieve a
minimum average score of 22 to be considered for a value award. Therefore at this pre-meet,

applications that are currently placed plus or minus one point from an overall average score of 22 for 1

value award and plus or minus a point of 32 for 2 value award points. Once value award points are
agreed at the LAC meeting, letters are generated the following day to both the successful and
unsuccessful applications. Feedback meetings are offered to all unsuccessful applications.

% 2018 % 2017

Gender Employees paid | Total relevant
bonus employees
Female 14.00 4590.00 0.31 0.22

Male 73.00 1207.00 6.05 7.06

Employees by pay quartile
The figures in brackets relate to the 2017 data period and are for comparison purposes only.

Quartile Female % Male %

_ 1048.00 83.71 16.29

Lower quartile 1 (940.00) (197.00) (82.67) (17.33)
1046.00 205.00 83.61 16.39

Lower middle quartile 2 (962.00) (175.00) (84.61) (15.39)
1098.00 157.00 87.49 12.51

Upper middle quartile 3 (1002.00) (137.00) (87.97) (12.03)
847.00 407.00 67.54 32.46

Upper quartile 4 (736.00) (403.00) (64.62) (35.38)

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust
Gender Average hourly rate Median hourly rate

20.6006 14.8226
15.2391 13.5855

Female

5.3615 1.2372

2018 pay gap % 26.0261 8.3466
2017 pay gap % ‘ 27.4404 7.2123

Male ‘
Difference ‘

Bonus pay

Gender Average pay Median pay
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| Male 12,346.76 9,040.50
Female 7,187.07 6,027.04

Difference 5,159.68 3,013.46
2018 pay gap % 41.79 33.33

36.05 0.00

Employees paid | Total relevant % 2018 % 2017

bonus employees

3654.00

58.00 1176.00 4.93 5.62

Employees by pay quartile

The figures in brackets relate to the 2017 data period and are for comparison purposes only.

Quartile Female % Male %

: 80.38 19.62

Lower quartile 1 (807.00) (209.00) (79.43) (20.57)
849.00 263.00 76.35 23.65

Lower middle quartile 2 (784.00) (232.00) (77.17) (22.83)
924.00 202.00 82.06 17.94

Upper middle quartile 3 (862.00) (154.00) (84.84) (15.16)
724.00 395.00 64.70 35.30

Upper quartile 4 (639.00) (378.00) (62.83) (37.17)

Summary

It is acknowledged that further analysis is required to understand the reasons why the pay gap exists in
certain areas and how we benchmark against other local NHS organisations and alliance partners. This
review will take place during 2019/20 and will include recommendations as to the approaches our
organisation should take in the future.

The Trust has a policy that all substantive staff are paid through the payroll. No Board member or senior
officials with significant financial responsibility were engaged on an off-payroll basis in 2018/19. The
procedure for engaging contractors and limits are set out in the Trust SFIs. The Trust has needed to
engage a number of contractors to support fixed-term assignments in areas such as information
technology, financial services and corporate transformation on an off-payroll basis.

The number of contractors engaged is shown in the tables where daily rates exceed £245 per day and
the engagement has lasted longer than six months.
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Gender profile

Our workforce is similar to the overall NHS workforce gender profile as shown below. In the coming year,
work will continue to ensure staff are not disadvantaged due to their gender.

Gender England average ESNEFT
(NHS Employers May 2018) (ESR March 2019)
Male 23% 23.06%
Female 7% 76.94%
Age profile

The age profile of the Trust is similar to that of the national average.

England average ESNEFT
(NHS Employers May 2018) (ESR March 2019)
Under 25 6% 4.77%
251034 23% 26.48%
351044 24% 23.63%
45 to 54 28% 24.97%
55 to 65 17% 17.45%
65 and over 2% 2.70%

Ethnicity profile

The ethnicity profile of the workforce is broadly similar to the national profile of the NHS workforce,
although is a greater ethnic mix than the population we serve.

Ethnicity England average * ESNEFT
(NHS Employers May 2018) (ESR March 2019)

White 77% 74.45%

Back or Black British 5% 2.14%

Asian or Asian British 9% 10.55%

Mixed 2% 1.63%

Chinese 1% 0.56%

Any other ethnic group 2% 0.92%

Not stated/ unknown 5% 9.75%

* Figures are rounded to the nearest percentage point, therefore may not add to 100

Armed Forces
The Trust is a positive champion of the Armed Forces, and signed the Armed Forces Covenant in 2016.
In 2017, the Trust received the revalidation of the silver award, highlighting its continued commitment to

defence personnel since 2014. Our HR colleagues will continue to work in partnership with the Ministry
of Defence towards achievement of the gold award.

Health and safety
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The risk and governance team continue to lead Trust-wide health and safety governance structures,
which allows us to provide a robust and well-developed health and safety management system as part of
ESNEFT’s risk management strategy.

The health and safety policy has been approved by the Board and complies with Section 3 (2) of the
Health and Safety at Work Act 1974. In addition, all ward/departments have access to:

¢ A health and safety folder which contains the policy along with ward/department risk
assessments; and

e COSHH (Control of Substances Hazardous to Health) manuals which contain risk assessments
and guidelines for the safe use of substances.

All incidents relating to the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations
(RIDDOR) have been reported to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and investigated by the risk
and governance team. The health and safety team have completed investigations where staff or visitors
have been injured due to a health and safety concern, which are then uploaded onto Datix, our electronic
local incident reporting and management system.

All departments, including our community sites, have been audited in compliance with HSG 65. Any
safety failures which were identified were addressed immediately with departments or escalated to line
managers.

The health and safety team have also continued to deliver health and safety mandatory training which is
at 87% compliance. Annual manual handling audits have taken place in clinical areas and time-bound
action plans issued to areas where the need for improvement has been identified. Areas of concern
included documenting competency assessments, provision of consistent basic equipment levels and
progress with action plans from 2018/19.

Trust-wide compliance with manual handling part one (non-clinical) stands at 87% compliance, with part
two (clinical) at 86% compliance.

Health and wellbeing

The Trust is committed to providing an effective health and wellbeing service to which all staff have
access. The service provide rapid access to physiotherapy to enable staff to receive speedy advice and
treatment, as well as an employee assistance programme.

Towards the end of 2018/19, we identified the mental wellbeing of our staff as a priority for the Trust, and
have since worked in partnership with Suffolk Mind to agree a 12 to 18 month work programme to help
staff protect their emotional wellbeing and mental health. This included delivering training called “Your
Needs Met’ to all of our divisional senior leadership teams, along with the continuation of our emotional
needs audit (ENA), which first took place during December 2018.

We were delighted to support Suffolk Mind’s RED January campaign this year. The initiative encourages
people to support their mental health by doing something active every single day. Many staff joined in
during 2019, and we hope to attract even more interest before January 2020.

Over the past 12 months, our health and wellbeing team have also enjoyed working with Public Health
England and various alliance partners to review and refresh of the Healthy Workplace Award, which is
based on eight standards including leadership, health and safety, healthy eating and mental health.

Schwartz Rounds

During the year, we have continued to facilitate Schwartz Rounds, which are structured one-hour
meetings open to anyone who works on our hospital sites. Taking place monthly, their aim is to give
people the chance to reflect on the emotional experience of working in healthcare, rather than finding
solutions to problems. Evidence shows that staff who attend the meetings feel more supported, valued
and connected with others.
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Topics explored during the Schwartz Rounds this year have included:

the view from the other side

my proudest moment

no stigma, no shame ... breaking the silence of mental health illness
giving people back their lives

love is ...

During the autumn, representatives from ESNEFT were delighted to be invited to talk to colleagues from
James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust about their experiences of facilitating Schwartz
Rounds over the past few years.

Employee assistance

Staff continue to have access to an employee assistance programme for psychological support and a
database for non-psychological problems. A helpline is available to support managers with work issues.

Zero tolerance policy against violence and abuse

The Trust will not hesitate to seek the prosecution of anybody who attacks members of staff while at
work. The vast majority of assaults are verbal, and on rare occasions staff have been subject to assault
which we take very seriously and will involve the police if required.

The safety of our workforce is paramount and a number of procedures are in place to minimise any
potential risk to staff. The Trust has an accredited security adviser who runs in-house training courses on
how to deal with violent and aggressive situations and how to manage conflict successfully. These
courses are mandatory for all frontline staff.

Fraud and corruption

The Trust supports the continued establishment and maintenance of a strong anti-fraud, bribery and
corruption culture among all staff, contractors, the public and patients. Fraud is taken seriously and staff
are made aware of how to identify and report fraud correctly.

The Trust endorses the right and duty of individual staff to raise any matters of concern they may have
with the delivery of care or services to a patient of the Trust, or about financial malpractice, unlawful
conduct, dangers to health and safety or the environment.

In 2018/19 we published an anti-fraud and bribery statement, which supplements our existing anti-fraud
work by setting out our position to all staff, contractors, the public and patients.

We are committed to abiding by the NHS Counter Fraud Authority’s Standards for Providers and believe
that a culture of openness and dialogue is in the best interests of patient care. However, this must be set
in the context of our duty of confidentiality to patients. Our Freedom to Speak Up Policy sets out the
procedures put in place for staff if they wish to raise concerns, and the responsibilities managers at all
levels have to ensure these are dealt with thoroughly and fairly.

Overview and scrutiny

Both Essex County Council and Suffolk County Council’s Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees
(HOSCs) considered aspects of the Trust’'s work during the year.

Shane Gordon, Director of Strategy, Research and Innovation, appeared before both committees to
present an update on the development of ESNEFT’s strategy while the Trust’s Directors of Operations —
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Alison Power, Simon Hallion and Alison Smith — attended to discuss specific operational issues relating
to the emergency department, effective discharge of patients and community care.

Public consultations

There were no public consultations during 2018/19 under section 242 of the NHS Act 2006. However the
Trust did undertake preliminary engagement relating to the development of its strategy.

Other patient and public involvement activities

The head of patient experience maintained contact with Healthwatch Essex and Healthwatch Suffolk,
providing feedback on any issues which were raised. They also attended the Colchester and Ipswich
hospital patient advisory groups pre-merger, which became a joint group following the creation of
ESNEFT.

Our patient user groups, which aim to make sure patients are involved in the new Trust, have agreed
their terms of reference. A new Colchester Hospital User Group is being formed, while the Ipswich
Hospital User Group, which has been established for a number of years, is making changes to its
responsibilities to reflect the role of Governors after becoming part of a foundation trust. Both groups are
aligning their processes and working together to support ESNEFT.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Trust is able to demonstrate compliance with the corporate governance principle that the Board of
Directors maintains a sound system of internal control to safeguard public and private investment,
ESNEFT assets, service quality through its board assurance framework (BAF).

Board Assurance Framework (BAF)

The BAF was regularly reviewed during 2018/19 to ensure that it provided an adequate evidence base to
support the effectiveness and focused management of the principle risks to meeting strategic objectives.
The BAF illustrates the escalation process to the Board of Directors and its committees when risk to
quality, performance and finance arise which require corrective action.

The Executive Director with delegated responsibility for managing and monitoring each risk is clearly
identified on the BAF. It also identifies the key controls in place to manage each of the principle risks and
explains how the Board is assured that those controls are in place and operating effectively.

Its principal aim is to provide a mechanism for the Trust’'s Board of Directors to regularly assess the level
of risk against the controls in place to mitigate the risks, and to also consider the adequacy of the
assurance. A summary of the principle risks within the BAF is provided within the Annual Governance
Statement, which begins on page 91.

Effective Risk and Performance Management

The Trust’s risk management policy ensures effective governance and compliance with best practice.
The Board maintains a framework which ensures timely escalation of risk to the Board by committees
and specialist groups.
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The risk management policy which sets out the principles to ensure performance and quality
improvement is connected through a two-way communication between the Board and service delivery
areas across ESNEFT, such as wards, clinics and patients’ homes. This is underpinned by a clear risk
appetite statement, which was approved by the Board of Directors in October 2018.

A governance structure was established as defined by the post-transaction implementation plan. A
monthly integrated performance report to the Board provides an organisational dashboard which is
underpinned and informed by reviews of service level dashboards, with action planning at these levels.
Improvements at an operational level is managed through divisional quality and performance meetings
and is tested through divisional accountability meetings with Executive Directors. A programme of patient
presentations and patient stories relating to quality priorities and service risks is also delivered to the
Board and its committees.

The Quality and Patient Safety Committee oversees and routinely receives information on all serious
incidents and the lessons we have learnt from them.

The Trust has continued to build and strengthen the arrangements for managing serious incidents
requiring investigation (SIRIs). During 2018/19, we continued to report patient safety incidents and
investigate to establish their root cause to enable risks to be addressed in a timely manner.

ESNEFT is a member of the NHS Resolution’s Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts.

Effectiveness of systems of internal control

The Board’s arrangements for its review and evaluation of the effectiveness of its systems of internal
control to manage its principal risks and meet regulatory requirements are also explained in the Annual
Governance Statement.

Contractual or other arrangements

This section gives information about organisations with whom we had contractual or other arrangements
which were essential to the business of the Trust (unless disclosure would, in the opinion of the
Directors, be seriously prejudicial to that organisation and contrary to public interest):

¢ North East Essex Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and associate commissioners
(healthcare commissioning)

¢ Ipswich and East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group and associate commissioners

(healthcare commissioning)

NHS England (specialised, local area and armed forces healthcare commissioning)

West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (clinical services)

Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust (mental health services)

Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (mental health services)

Anglian Community Enterprise (clinical services)

Ramsay Healthcare Ltd (clinical services)

Overview of other procurement arrangements

The Trust had a number of other procurement arrangements, including:
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National Blood Service (blood products)
Alliance Medical (MRI services)
Diaverum UK (renal services)

Opcare (orthotic and prosthetic services)
GE Capital (equipment leasing)

Suffolk GP Federation

Joint ventures and partnership arrangements

The Trust has always worked in partnership with a number of organisations for the delivery of services.
The most significant of these are:

e A section 31 partnership under the Health Act 1999 with Essex County Council, Mid Essex
Hospital Services NHS Trust, NHS Mid Essex, NHS North East Essex, NHS South East Essex,
NHS South West Essex and Thurrock Council for an integrated community equipment service.

e Partnership arrangements with other NHS Trusts, such as Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS
Trust and West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust for a range of clinical services

Trust business model

ESNEFT operates a devolved management structure comprising six clinical divisions within three groups
and one corporate division. The groups and divisions have delegated authority for governance,
performance and expenditure/income and are accountable through the accountability framework to the
Executive team, led by the Chief Executive.

Post year-end events

The S106 improvement notice issued by NHSI in January 2018 remained in force throughout 2018/19.
On 24 April 2019, NHSE and the NHSI Regional Support Group agreed that all undertakings should be
removed from ESNEFT and that the Trust move from Single Operating Framework segment three to
segment two.

On 24 April 2019, David White, Trust Chair, announced his appointment as the Chair of the Norfolk and
Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. As a result, he will be stepping down as Chair of
ESNEFT at the end of May 2019.

Helen Taylor, Deputy Chair, will act up in the interim period as the trust seeks to recruit to the position.
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Accountability Report

The Accountability Report pulls together all of the statutory disclosures relating to NHS foundation trusts
and comprises the Directors’ Report, Remuneration Report, Staff Report, FT Code of Governance
Disclosures, regulatory ratings, Statement of Accounting Officer's Responsibilities and the Annual
Governance Statement.

Directors’ Report

The Directors’ Report comprises the details of the individuals undertaking the role of director during
2018/19 and the statutory disclosures required to be part of that report and information relating to quality
governance. It is presented in the name of the following directors who occupied Board positions during
the year (it also incorporates the operating and financial review):

Susan Aylen-Peacock Non-Executive Director (to 31 October)

Eddie Bloomfield Non-Executive Director (from 1 November)

Barbara Buckley Director of Clinical Integration (1 April to 30 June)
Chief Medical Officer (1 July to 31 January)

Jude Chin Deputy Chair/Non-Executive Director (to 30 June)

Laurence Collins Non-Executive Director (from 1 July)

Tim Fenton Non-Executive Director (to 31 October)

Shane Gordon Director of Integration (1 April to 30 June)
Director of Strategy, Research and Innovation (from 1 July)

Nick Hulme Chief Executive

Richard Kearton Non-Executive Director (1 July to 31 October)

Diane Leacock Non-Executive Director (to 30 November)

Mike Meers Director of IM&T

Neill Moloney Managing Director/Deputy Chief Executive

Catherine Morgan Chief Nurse

Elaine Noske Non-Executive Director (1 July to 31 October)

Julie Parker Non-Executive Director

Dawn Scrafield Director of Finance

Jan Smith Non-Executive Director (to 30 June)

Richard Spencer Non-Executive Director (from 1 November)

Carole Taylor-Brown Non-Executive Director (from 1 November)

Helen Taylor Non-Executive Director (from 1 July)

Dr Angela Tillett Interim Chief Medical Officer (from 1 February)

David White Chair

Richard Youngs Non-Executive Director (from 1 November)

Statement as to disclosure to auditors

So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are
unaware. The Directors have taken all of the steps that they ought to have taken as Directors in order to
be aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that
information.

Planned developments at the Trust

The Trust agreed its Annual Plan for 2019/20 at its Finance Committee and Board of Directors meeting
during March 2019. The final plan was submitted to NHS Improvement in April.

40



Annual Report, Annual Accounts and Quality Report 1 April 2018 — 31 March 2019

The key points to note from the 2019/20 Annual Plan and budget are:

¢ planned income and expenditure deficit of £8.6m, requiring a CIP delivery of £31.9m. This CIP
target represents 4.5% of all pay and non-pay budgets and will be stretching; and

e capital programme of £32.2m, funded through internal resources, third parties and government
loans.

Overall, the Trust will require £8.5m of revenue cash support for 2019/20.

Statutory income disclosures
Non-NHS income

Under the requirements of section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social
Care Act 2012), the Trust can confirm that income from the provision of goods and services for the
purpose of health services in England is greater than the income generated from the provision of goods
and services for any other purpose.

Income to the Trust from non-NHS sources has a positive impact on the provision of goods and services
for the purposes of the health service, as all income to the Trust is used for the benefits of NHS care.

HM Treasury requires disclosure of fees and income from charges to service users where income from
that service exceeds £1 million. For 2018/19 and for 2017/18 this is nil.

Other public interest disclosures
Better Payment Practice Code

The Trust is required to pay trade creditors in accordance with the Better Payment Practice Code. This
simple code sets out the following obligations of a business to its suppliers:

bills are paid within 30 days, unless covered by other agreed payment terms
disputes and complaints are handled by a nominated officer

payment terms are agreed with all traders before the start of contracts
payment terms are not varied without prior agreement with traders

a clear policy exists of paying bills in accordance with contract.

We aim to pay at least 95% of our invoices in accordance with these obligations. However, cash
constraints caused by our in-year deficit necessitated that we increase payment terms to 35 days
wherever possible without causing a detrimental impact on the supply of goods and services it receives.

The trust’s performance with the better payment practice code is set out in note 15 in the annual
accounts.

HM Treasury cost allocation compliance
The Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging requirements set out in HM Treasury and
Office of Public Sector Information guidance.

Fixed assets
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Although there is no predetermined frequency at which property, plant and equipment assets must be
revalued, accounting standards require that asset values should be kept up-to-date. Therefore, the
frequency of revaluation needs to reflect the volatility of asset values and, in NHS Improvement’s view,
property assets are likely to require revaluation at least every five years.

The last full valuation of the Trust’s land and building assets was carried out at 31 March 2019 by the
DVS (the commercial arm of the Valuation Office Agency). Both sites will be revalued on the same basis
of alternative site with alternative build.

Political or charitable donations

The Trust made no political or charitable donations.

Interest rate or exchange rate risks

The Trust does not have any significant exposure to interest rate or exchange rate risks and therefore
does not hold any complicated financial instruments to hedge against such risks. Details of the Trust's
financial instruments are shown in the Annual Accounts.

Accounting policy for pensions and details of senior employees’ remuneration
The accounting policy for pensions can be found in the Annual Accounts, which are in section B of this

report. Details of senior employees’ remuneration can be found in the remuneration report, which begins
on page 62.

Quality Governance

The clinical governance structure supporting the quality agenda has been established across ESNEFT.
Three executive groups (the Clinical Effectiveness Group, Patient Safety Group and Patient Experience
Group) report through to the Quality and Patient Safety Committee, a sub-committee of the Board of
Directors.

Well-Led framework

Quality, which encompasses patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience, is at the heart
of the Board and organisation’s agenda.

As part of the preparation for the merger, the Board reviewed the arrangements in place to deliver
against the NHSI Well-Led Framework, which included a review of risk management and Board to ward
effectiveness. As a result of this review, Board memorandums for quality governance, financial reporting
procedures and a post transaction implementation plan will be developed to show how we will deliver
safe and high quality services and implement a vision for the future.

We plan to carry out a self-assessment during 2019 against the NHSI Well Led Framework, along with
an external evaluation of the Board and governance of the Trust during 2019/20.

Consistency of evaluation

The Trust has reviewed the consistency of its Annual Governance Statement against other disclosure
statements made during the year as required by the Risk Assessment Framework, the disclosure
statements required as part of this report, the Quality Report and the Annual Plan and against the

42



Annual Report, Annual Accounts and Quality Report 1 April 2018 — 31 March 2019

reports arising from the CQC planned and responsive reviews of the Trust. We have identified no
material inconsistencies to report.

Patient safety

Our ultimate aim is to deliver the highest quality healthcare services to every patient, every day. Each
area is responsible for setting and delivering Trust-approved improvement targets. Performance against
internal and external quality indicators is monitored by the Patient Safety Group. Assurance is provided
to the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee on a monthly basis.

Patient safety walkabouts

Following the induction and training period for our new elected Council of Governors (July 2018) and
newly appointed Non-Executive Directors (November 2018), the Non-Executive Directors and the
Governors have commenced walkabouts from February 2019 on our wards, clinics and other service
areas in the Trust, speaking with patients and staff. These walkabouts are reported through to the
Council of Governors, with immediate actions reported back to service area leads for completion. A
scheduled programme of walkabouts has been established for 2019/20.

Peer reviews

The methodology used during CQC and Monitor reviews, which focus on the five key domains of safe,
effective, caring, responsive and well-led, has been recognised as best practice. Subsequent peer
reviews and ‘deep dives’ into concerns raised internally and externally continue to be led by the Risk and
Compliance Team.

Mortality

The Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) and Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator
(SHMI) give an indication of whether the mortality ratio of an organisation is higher or lower than
expected when compared to the national (England) baseline.

The following show the HSMR by Trust and period for 12 months to the date shown:

e Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust to March 2018 — 108.6, ‘higher than expected’

e Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust to March 2018 — 109.4, ‘higher than
expected’

e East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust to December 2018 — 108.1, ‘higher than
expected’

For the period ending December 2018, ESNEFT was one of six acute non-specialist trusts of 15 in the
East of England with a ‘higher than expected’ HSMR.

The SHMI results include deaths within 30 days of discharge. For the 12 months to the date shown, they
are:

e Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust to March 2018 — 107.35, ‘as expected’

e Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust to March 2018 — 113.76, ‘as expected’

e East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust to September 2018 — 114.1, ‘higher than
expected’
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A report from the Office for National Statistics showed that excess winter deaths in England and Wales
were the highest recorded since 1975/76, with a 45% increase on 2016/7. These winter deaths have had
a marked impact on both the SHMI and HSMR (statistical) relative risks.

ESNEFT serves a large elderly population, and records 8% more attendances for patients aged 64 and
above than the national average. As a result, Colchester Hospital has seen year-on-year increases in in-
hospital deaths for the last five years.

Mortality rates follow the national seasonal trend for acute trusts, which is amplified during the winter due
to multiple chronic comorbidities such as heart failure, renal failure, diabetes and COPD.

Work is ongoing to make sure that patients arriving at ED are rapidly assessed and treated according to
national protocols and that, following admission, they are closely monitored and escalated. We are
working with community partners to reduce unnecessary admissions for patients in the last months of life
by improving symptom control in the community, introducing services such as the COPD HOT clinic and
allowing patients to be treated in their preferred place of care.

We have developed a robust mortality review process for in-hospital deaths in line with national guidance
published March 2017. Deaths are reviewed in line with national mandatory requirements for learning
from deaths using pre-defined criteria and multiple data sources. In addition, staff review any death
where they feel that death was not ‘expected’ or where there were care concerns. From April 2019,
medical examiners will provide additional scrutiny by assessing the quality of care as described in the
health record and through discussion with the bereaved.

Where learning or issues are recognised these are collated and fed back to the clinical teams, and are
also escalated via the Trust’s internal governance system if required.

Falls prevention

There were 876 inpatient falls at Colchester Hospital in 2018/19, which is a 2.7% reduction on the
previous year. Of these falls, 18 resulting in serious harm, which is the equivalent of a 42% decrease on
the previous year (24).

Ipswich Hospital had 1,288 inpatient falls in 2018/19, which is a reduction of 15.5% on the previous year.
Of these, 17 resulted in serious harm, which is an increase of 30% on the previous year’s figure of 13.

Our community hospitals recoded a total of 406 falls in 2018/19. Data prior to 2018 is not available.

Since the merger, ESNEFT has continued its focus on delivering safe care for all patients. Cohort
nursing has been effective and is rolling out across all hospital sites. Our aim is to maximise patient
safety by identifying patients at risk of falls on admission and continually monitoring them until their
discharge, while placing a focus on rehabilitation and mobilisation in our community hospitals.

Pressure ulcers

Pressure ulcers remain an unwanted complication associated with healthcare and it is widely
acknowledged that they are largely preventable. They are costly in terms of human suffering, treatment
and rising litigation costs due to them being regarded as an indicator of clinical negligence. Despite
many national prevention campaigns in recent years, pressure ulcer incidence rates continue to rise.

Wounds are graded in accordance with European Pressure Ulcer Advisory Panel guidelines from stage
one to stage four, with stage four being the most severe due to the extent of tissue damage that occurs.

The number of pressure ulcers at Colchester Hospital classified in stages two to four was 78, a decrease
of 29.7% on the previous year. At Ipswich, there was a total of 171, which is an increase of 2% from the
previous year. Our community hospitals recorded 19 stage two to four pressure ulcers this year. Data
prior to 2018 is not available.
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Our Trust continues to promote the use of the ASKIN (assessment, surface, keep moving, incontinence/
moisture, nutrition/ hydration) care bundle as an effective model of pressure ulcer prevention by ensuring
staff embed the model principles into their everyday nursing care. Assessment ensures that patients who
are at risk of developing pressure ulcer damage are identified early and appropriate care interventions
are implemented to prevent pressure ulcers.

Improvements in patient information
Our patient information strategy continued to ensure healthcare professionals were able to deliver

accurate, up-to-date, easy-to-understand, informative and timely information to patients. More than 1,000
different leaflets were available, which were compliant with Department of Health guidelines.

Infection control

We have continued to perform well with regard to controlling and preventing hospital-acquired infections.
Rigorous clinical and environmental hygiene measures, controls on prescribing antibiotics, isolation of
infected patients and root cause analysis of cases, supported by learning and implementing changes,
continue to have a significant impact. We will continue this vigilant approach in 2019/20 with education,
monitoring and reporting.

Clostridium difficile

Clostridium difficile incidence is assessed as cases detected more than 72 hours after admission (these
are considered to be attributable to an infection acquired in hospital). A new system of reviewing cases
was introduced to determine whether cases were associated with or without breaches of local protocols,
the latter being deemed unavoidable. The agreed maximum ceiling of cases with breaches for ESNEFT
was 34.

Of the 52 cases reported, there were 11 cases with breaches and 41 cases with no breaches across all
sites. Continuing with a low number of cases is testament to the vigilance of clinical teams and their
compliance with best practice. However, we still have further work to do relating to antimicrobial
prescribing and timely isolation.

From April 2019, the way figures are reported will change, with the focus moving to a system-wide
approach and giving CCGs responsibility and accountability for reducing in the total number of cases.

MRSA bacteraemia

MRSA incidence is assessed as cases detected more than 48 hours after admission, which are
considered to be attributable to an infection acquired in hospital, or cases where MRSA is considered to
be a contaminant in blood cultures. Although our target was to have zero cases of MRSA bacteraemia,
one inpatient case was identified. The case was reviewed by a panel and learning relating to peripheral
line management shared as a result.

Gram negative blood stream infections

There is a national ambition to reduce the number of cases of E-coli bacteraemia by 50% by 2021. As
three-quarters of these cases occur before patients are admitted to hospital, we are contributing to a
system-wide plan to support improvements across the health economy.
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Surgical site infection

Orthopaedic surgical site infection data reporting has been mandatory since 2005. The Trust also
participates in non-mandatory reporting, including continual vascular surgical site infection surveillance,
and continues to achieve rates well below the national benchmark in all modules covered.

Hand hygiene monitoring

We monitor compliance with best practice for hand hygiene in all clinical areas every month. Compliance
overall remained above 95%.

Improving our patients’ experience

Your experience is our responsibility

We remain fully committed to improving patient experience and providing high quality, safe and effective
services, while putting patients, relatives and carers at the heart of everything we do.

We continue to welcome complaints as a tool for learning and making improvements. As a result of the
merger, our Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) and the complaints team were aligned to ensure
anyone contacting them would receive a consistent and high standard of support, although the teams
also continue to provide local support to each hospital as enquiries remain site-based.

We are committed to learning from incidents and ensure our teams are aware of all lessons to be learnt
for their areas in order to minimise the risk of serious incidents, never events and serious complaints.

We collect patient feedback from many sources and use this information to inform service development
and improvement programmes.

Privacy and dignity

Maintaining patients’ privacy and dignity is fundamental to providing a high standard of care. According
to the 2018 national adult inpatient survey, 99% of Trust patients said they were treated with dignity and
respect and 96% stated there was always enough privacy when being examined or treated.

Treating patients with privacy and dignity is included on the extended clinical induction for our
nurses and allied health professionals.

Delivering same sex accommodation

The NHS Constitution confirms a patient’s right to dignity and respect. The Trust is committed to treating
all patients with privacy and dignity in a safe, clean and comfortable environment.

We are compliant with the government requirement to eliminate mixed-sex accommodation, except
when it is in the patient’s overall best interest or reflects their personal choice. We have the necessary
facilities, resources and culture to ensure that patients who are admitted to our hospitals will share only
the room where they sleep with members of the same sex, and that same-sex toilets and bathrooms will
be close to their bed area. Sharing with members of the opposite sex will happen only when clinically
necessary, for example, where patients need specialist equipment such as in intensive care or the high
observations unit.
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If our performance falls short of the required standard, this is reported to North East Essex CCG or
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. We also have an audit mechanism to make sure we do not misclassify
any of our reports. We record the results of that audit as part of our patient experience audits.

Patient and public involvement

As an NHS foundation trust, we are committed to the principle of public, patient and staff involvement.
Public and staff members have elected Governors to represent their views and to work with the Trust to
ensure patients’ views are taken into consideration at all times.

The Council of Governors were represented at a number of public engagement events held between
April 2018 and March 2019, and listened to feedback around the merger, the new strategy and the
quality of care across ESNEFT. They were pleased to note that at these engagement events, new public
members were recruited in all constituencies including Colchester (42), Ipswich (18), the rest of Essex
(23) and the rest of Suffolk (53). This shows the level of interest which our communities have in the
future of their local hospitals.

How the Trust monitors patient experience

We value the feedback we receive from patients about their experiences of receiving care and gather it
in several different ways.

The NHS Friends and Family Test (FFT) is well-established across the adult inpatient, maternity and
emergency department (A&E) pathways. Responses are largely collected by leaflet, as well as via SMS
and the phone for patients using the ED. FFT reports are sent to the Trust’s divisions and wards both
weekly and monthly, while the results are also reported to the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance
Committee and shared with commissioners.

Compliments and commendations are recorded and reported on a monthly basis. Feedback which is
posted on online via forums such as NHS Choices, Care Opinion and Healthwatch is collected and
shared via the patient experience team. Complaints and PALS also remain a rich source of feedback for
learning and improvement and, where necessary, may also look into issues which have been raised
online.

The well-established Ipswich Hospital User Group gives all of the hospital’s local user groups the chance
to meet and identify Trust-wide trends, themes and areas for improvement. A user group for Colchester
Hospital is currently being set up. Representatives from both of these groups also make sure the
patient’s voice is heard by sitting on our Patient Experience Group.

Using online and social media to engage and communicate

The Trust’s communications team uses social media, such as Facebook and Twitter, and websites such
as NHS Choices and Patient Opinion, to further engage and communicate with service users.

New ESNEFT Facebook and Twitter pages were launched following the merger, with traffic directed to
our new sites. As of 31 March 2019, our ESNEFT Twitter page had 1,971 followers and our Facebook
page had 6,350. In addition, our ESNEFT Facebook page also had 6,181 likes, which is the number of
unique people who have liked our page. Facebook encourages people to recommend and review
services based on personal experience. As of 31 March 2019, our Trust had been recommended 37
times and had received 118 ratings, scoring and average of 4.3 out of 5.

The communications team responds to reviews on its Facebook pages, positive or negative, escalating

any issues as appropriate.

NHS Choices
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The NHS Choices website (www.nhs.uk) allows people to leave compliments or feedback about our
hospitals and services. These comments can be seen by anyone who visits the website and aids people
to make decisions about where they chose to receive their treatment.

ESNEFT has been reviewed 27 times so far, and has scored an overall rating of 4.5 out of 5 stars.

Our patient experience team responds to the reviews on NHS Choices, signposting patients to relevant
services and departments as appropriate, along with escalating any issues as required.

Patient-led Assessments of the Care Environment (PLACE)

Patient-led Assessments of the Care Environment, or PLACE, are an assessment of non-clinical
services and factors which contribute to the hospital environment. They take into consideration:

cleanliness

the condition of the environment

how well the organisation meets the food and hydration needs of patients

how well the organisation and environment support patients’ privacy and dignity

how dementia-friendly the environment is

how accessible the environment is for those people who may, for example, have to use
wheelchairs or have sight impairment.

The assessments are carried out by teams made up of patient assessors (members of the public), in
conjunction with staff from the Trust’s facilities management service and representatives from infection
control and nursing. Patient assessors must make up at least 50% of the membership of the teams
carrying out the assessments.

In 2018, the PLACE assessments at Colchester and Ipswich hospitals were spread over a number of
days, while assessments at our community hospitals were completed in a day. In line with the
instructions issued by NHS Digital, the assessments were completed before the merger.

The results showed that Colchester performed well in comparison with the scores it achieved in 2017
and against other local acute hospitals and the national average. Ipswich also performed well in
comparison with its 2017 scores, but not as well as other local acute hospitals or the national average.
Our community hospitals — Aldeburgh, Felixstowe and Bluebird Lodge — generally failed to perform well
against other local community hospitals and the national average, but achieved better scores for
cleanliness than in 2017.

Over the coming months, we will review our current PLACE-lite arrangements, which give us the chance
to carry out optional interim assessments throughout the year.

Engaging our staff in developing a patient experience approach

We continued to engage staff in developing a personal approach which improves the patient experience.
In recruitment, all job descriptions, person specifications, adverts and questions at interview reflected the

attitudes, behaviours and standards we expect of employees.

All new staff attended a corporate induction where a half-day was dedicated to patient experience and
what all staff must do in terms of behaviours to ensure the Trust is consistently at its best.

Spiritual care and chaplaincy
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We have a caring and responsive trust chaplaincy team and approximately 60 chaplaincy multi-faith
volunteers, as well as faith/belief visitors whom we are able to call upon to provide appropriate rites and
rituals to patients, carers, and staff who request them.

Our Trust chaplains have seen a substantial increase in referrals and contacts from staff, clergy, family
members and volunteers. These cover different facets of care from cradle to grave and include spiritual,
religious, emotional, and pastoral care, Holy Communion, prayers, haming and blessings, baptisms and
funerals and end of life support. Our team was also privileged to work with patients and their partners to
arrange emergency marriages in the past year. We were honoured to work with the staff to make each
wedding a very special event for the couple involved.

Patient advice and liaison service (PALS)

Our Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) aims to help patients, carers, relatives and families
resolve problems as quickly and easily as possible by investigating their concerns or putting them in
touch with the appropriate member of staff. A total of 5,396 PALS contacts were recorded in 2018/19.

Compliments

The Trust received 903 compliments in 2018/19. Compliments were received in several forms, including
letters, cards, gifts, emails and through the local press. Where staff are named they are, where possible,
informed and this aids morale and improves staff experience.

Complaints

We are committed to learning from all patient feedback to improve the services we provide. We
encourage patients and visitors to help by telling us what they think of their experience.

A total of 1,281 complaints were received by the Trust in 2018/19. The Trust views the receipt of
complaints positively, as each offers an opportunity to learn lessons and improve patient experience.

We responded to 65% of complaints within the agreed timeframe. We re-opened 61 complaints because
the complainants were not satisfied by the first response they received.

We have worked extremely hard to improve the quality of complaint responses. However, in some cases
the complainant has remained dissatisfied, either because not all their concerns were addressed or they
challenged some aspects of the response. In such cases the complaint has been re-opened for further
investigation. Re-opened complaints are generally resolved with either a face to face meeting or a further
letter of response.

Referrals to the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO)

A total of 28 complaints were referred to the PHSO, with nine investigated. During the reporting period,
one case was partially upheld and no cases were fully upheld.

Acting to improve our complaints process

Every effort is made to ensure a senior manager calls a complainant within 24 hours of the complaint

being logged to gain clarity on their concerns and offer apologies for the poor experience. A formal
acknowledgement letter is also sent within three working days.
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Service improvements following complaints

The Trust ensures that complaints are reviewed at Divisional Clinical Governance meetings so that
lessons can be learnt and changes made to practice.

For example, staff now use reusable boxes kept in bags which are clearly marked with the patient’s
name to store personal belongings such as glasses, dentures and hearing aids during surgery. These
are kept on the patient’s bed during their procedure so that they can use them as soon as they get to
recovery. This change was introduced after several patients complained that their possessions had been
lost while they were in surgery.
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Our Board of Directors

The Board of Directors functions as a corporate decision-making body. The duty of the Board and of
each Director individually is to ensure the long-term success of the Trust in delivering high quality health
care. As a Board, all Directors have the same status and as Non-Executive and Executives sitting on a
single Board, operate on the principle of a “unitary board”.

All the powers of the Trust shall be exercised by the Board of Directors on behalf of the organisation.
The rules and regulations within which the Board is expected to operate are captured in the Trust’s
corporate governance documents, which include the organisation’s constitution (which contains the
standing orders for the Board of Directors), its schedule of matters reserved for Board decision, standing
financial instructions and scheme of delegation. These documents explain the respective roles and
responsibilities of the Board of Directors and Council of Governors, the matters which require board
and/or council approval and matters which are delegated to committees or executive management.

Disagreements between the Board of Directors and Council of Governors are resolved through a
process which aims to achieve informal resolution in the first instance, following which a formal process
will be taken which involves a resolution for discussion at a Board meeting.

The limitations set on the delegation to executive management require that any Executive action taken in
the course of business does not compromise the integrity and reputation of the Trust and takes account
of any potential risk, health and safety, patient experience, finance and working with partner
organisations.

Appointment and composition of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is made up of full-time Executive Directors and part-time Non-Executive Directors
(NEDs), all of whom are appointed because of their experience, business acumen and/or links with the
local community. The Trust considers all of its Non-Executive Directors to be independent.

The Board comprises a Chair, seven further NEDs and seven voting Executive Directors. The Council of
Governors appointed the Chair and other NEDs in accordance with the constitution and in line with
paragraphs 19(2) and 19(3) respectively of Schedule 7 of the National Health Service Act 2006. The
NEDs were appointed by the Council of Governors following national recruitment. In line with the Trust’s
constitution, these appointments and reappointments were approved by the Council of Governors.

Disclosures of the remuneration paid to the Chair, Non-Executive Directors and Executive Directors are
given in the Remuneration Report (page 62 onwards).

The Board is content that its balance, completeness and effectiveness meet the requirements of an NHS
foundation trust.

Register of interests

All Directors are asked to declare any interests on the register of directors’ interests at the time of their
appointment. This register is reviewed and maintained by the Company Secretary, and is available for
inspection by the public. Anyone who wishes to see the register should contact the Trust’s offices at the
address on page 5.

None of the Executive Directors were released by the Trust to serve as Non-Executive Directors
elsewhere during the year.
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About the Non-Executive Directors

David White
Appointed: 6 May 2016
Term of office: Expires 5 May 2019

Chair of the Board of Directors, the Council of
Governors, the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee and Appointments and Performance
Committee.

David has extensive leadership experience as both a
Chief Executive and Non-Executive Director in the
public sector. He moved to Suffolk in 1994 as Chief
Executive of Suffolk Health Authority, a post he held
until 2002. He was then Chief Executive of Thurrock
Council for four years, before joining Norfolk County
Council as Chief Executive in 2006. He retired in April
2013. He has been Chair of Ipswich Hospital since
November 2015 and Colchester since 2106.

Eddie Bloomfield
Appointed: 1 November 2018
Term of office: Expires 31 October 2021

Member of Finance and Performance Committee,
Charitable Funds Committee, Remuneration and
Nomination Committee

Eddie has held four Chief Executive roles at the
Ministry of Justice, which have included Head of the
Court Funds Office and Head of the Office of the
Accountant General Public Trustee and as HM Chief
Inspector of Court Administration for England and
Wales. He is involved with several charities in and
around Colchester in trustee and other voluntary
positions, and brings extensive experience in political,
financial management and change management. He
was previously a non-executive director at Colchester
PCT.

Laurence Collins

Appointed: 1 July 2018 (former non-executive
director of Ipswich Hospital since 1 April 2013)
Term of office: To 4 April 2019

Senior Independent Director, Chair of People and
Organisational Development committee (to 31
October 2018), member of People and Organisational
Development committee, Remuneration and
Nomination Committee, Quality and Patient Safety
committee

Laurence has had a long career in planning in the
public sector. He is a former Director of Ipswich
Borough Council, and was lead Director for health
strategies and improvements. Laurence has extensive
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experience of leading change, corporate restructures
and transformation programmes, including setting up
multi-agency customer service and contact centres.
During his time at the borough council, he led complex
multi-agency partnership projects such as the
Ravenswood development, East West rail and key
Ipswich Waterfront regeneration schemes including
Felaw Maltings.

Julie Parker
Appointed: 1 April 2014
Term of office: Expires 31 March 2020

Chair of the Finance and Performance Committee,
member of Audit and Risk Committee (from 1
November), Quality and Patient Safety Committee (to
31 October) and Remuneration and Nomination
Committee.

Julie, who has lived all her life in the area served by
the Trust, is a qualified accountant. She has
significant experience working as a Director of
Resources and Finance at three London councils over
a period of 10 years.

She is currently a Board member at Colchester
Borough Homes and a trustee for the Queen’s
Theatre, Hornchurch. Julie is a member of the Joint
Audit Committee of the Police and Crime
Commissioner and Essex Police. She also serves on
the audit committees of the Health and Care
Professions Council and Essex Fire and Rescue
Service.

Richard Spencer
Appointed: 1 November 2018
Term of office: Expires 31 October 2021

Chair of Charitable Funds Committee, member of
People and Organisational Development Committee
and Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Richard Spencer is a former Director of Culture and
Policy and Director of Corporate Social Responsibility
at BT, and also worked as the company’s Head of
Strategy and Partnerships. Since taking early
retirement in 2017, he has been appointed to the
Communication Consumer Panel by the Department
of Digital, Culture, Media and Sport and continues to
act as an executive coach. He is also trustee of a
homeless charity based in Colchester.
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Carole Taylor-Brown
Appointed: 1 November 2018
Term of office: Expires 31 October 2021

Chair of People and Organisational Development
Committee (from 1 November 2018), member of
Quality Committee and Remuneration and Nomination
Committee.

Carole has significant experience in the NHS and as a
NED in the charity and housing sectors. An HR
professional by background, she went on to become
Chief Executive of NHS Suffolk until her retirement in
2010. Since then, she has been working with the NHS
supporting a range of governance reviews and
coaching senior leaders and clinicians. She was
formerly Chair of Trustees for Suffolk Mind and is
currently Chair of Suffolk Housing and a Visiting
Fellow at University Suffolk.

Helen Taylor

Appointed: 1 July 2018 (formerly NED of Ipswich
Hospital NHS Trust from April 2016)

Term of office: Expires 31 October 2021

Chair of Quality and Patient Safety Committee,
member of the Audit & Risk Committee and the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Having trained as a nurse, Helen has held a number
of senior positions in health and social care, including
Director of Integrated Commissioning and Vulnerable
People with Essex County Council and Interim CEO
with Suffolk Age UK. She has also held director-level
positions in social care with the London Borough of
Tower Hamlets and North Yorkshire County Council,
and was previously National Policy Lead for Adult
Social Care and Older People with the Audit
Commission.

Richard Youngs
Appointed: 1 November 2018
Term of office: Expires 31 October 2021

Chair of Audit & Risk Committee, member of People
and OD Committee, Charitable Funds Committee and
Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Richard is a former RAF wing commander, a role
comparable to Chief Executive. He has held a number
of roles at a senior level, including Officer
Commanding Support Wing at RAF Honington, and
Head of Future Pay Structure for the 170,000
members of the armed forces. He is also a NED with
the East of England Cooperative Society, a
membership organisation with a model not dissimilar
to that of foundation trusts. He has a wide-ranging
skills set covering HR and Finance.
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Former Non-Executive Directors

Susan Aylen-Peacock

Appointed: 9 November 2015

Susan was a transitional NED
from Colchester Hospital until
she stepped down on 31
October 2018

Jude Chin Appointed: 13 September 2011 Jude stepped down on 30 June
2018
Tim Fenton Appointed: 8 December 2016 Tim was a transitional NED

from Colchester Hospital until
he stepped down on 31
October 2018

Richard Kearton

Appointed: 1 July 2018 (formerly
non-executive of Ipswich Hospital
NHS Trust)

Richard was a transitional NED
from Ipswich Hospital until he
stepped down on 31 October
2018

Diane Leacock

Appointed: 1 April 2014

Diane was a transitional NED
from Colchester Hospital until
she stepped down on 30
November 2018

Elaine Noske

Appointed: 1 July 2018 (formerly
non-executive of Ipswich Hospital
NHS Trust)

Elaine was a transitional NED
from Ipswich Hospital until she
stepped down on 31 October
2018

Jan Smith

Appointed: 9 November 2015

Jan stepped down on 30 June
2018
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About the Executive Directors

Nick Hulme

Chief Executive

Appointed: 17 May 2016

Term of office: Permanent

Notice period: Trust: six months; employee: three months

Trust Accounting Officer. Responsible for corporate strategy, external
relations, transformation plan, regulation and compliance, leadership.
Twitter: @Nickhulme61

Nick has worked in the NHS for more than 30 years. He was appointed
Chief Executive of Ipswich Hospital in January 2013, and also became
Chief Executive of Colchester in May 2016.

Shane Gordon

Director of Strategy, Research and Innovation
Appointed: 2 March 2015

Term of office: Permanent

Notice period: Trust: six months; employee: three months
Twitter: @DrShaneGordon

Shane was previously Clinical Chief Officer of North East Essex Clinical
Commissioning Group. He was Associate Medical Director of the East
of England Strategic Health Authority and is a member of the Royal
College of General Practitioners and the Royal College of Surgeons.

Mike Meers

Director of ICT

Appointed: 1 January 2018

Term of office: Permanent

Notice period: Trust: six months; employee: three months

Mike has worked within local NHS services for more than 27 years
managing information technology services and their transformation.

Neill Moloney

Managing Director/Deputy CEO

Appointed: 1 January 2018

Term of office: Permanent

Notice period: Trust: six months; employee: three months
Twitter: @NeillMoloney

Neill has worked in the NHS for more than 26 years, 11 of which have
been as an Executive Director. He has extensive experience and
expertise in operational management, planning and performance, as
well as leadership in commissioning and information.
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Catherine Morgan

Chief Nurse

Appointed: 23 January 2017

Term of office: Permanent

Notice period: Trust: six months; employee: three months

Catherine has over 25 years’ experience in the NHS in both senior
clinical and leadership roles. She has significant experience in leading
quality improvement and previously worked at Queen Elizabeth Hospital,
King’s Lynn, where she was Director of Nursing for three years. Prior to

this, she held Deputy Director of Nursing roles at both The Ipswich Hospital and Mid Essex
Hospitals.

2009.

Dawn Scrafield

Director of Finance

Appointed: 2 February 2015

Term of office: Permanent

Notice period: Trust: six months; employee: three months
Twitter: @DawnScrafield

Dawn has more than 22 years’ experience in the NHS, as an
accountant and predominantly as Director of Finance. She spent two
years at NHS England’s Essex Area Team as Director of Finance and
Deputy Area Director. Prior to that, she was Director of Finance at NHS
South West Essex and Director at South East Essex PCT from 2006 to

Dr Angela Tillett

Interim Chief Medical Officer

Appointed: 9 March 2015

Term of office: Permanent

Notice period: Trust: six months; employee: three months
Twitter: @angela_tillett

Angela trained at University College London and started as a Paediatric
Consultant in Colchester in 2001. Her roles have included Lead Clinician
for Paediatric Services, Divisional Director for Women’s and Children’s
Services and subsequently Divisional Director for Surgery before

appointment to the Chief Medical Officer role.

At the time of their appointment, all Directors are asked to declare any interests on the register of
directors’ interests. They are asked to register any changes to their declarations and to confirm, in
writing, on an annual basis that the declarations made are accurate. The register is maintained by the

Trust’s company secretary and is available to anyone who wishes to see it. Inquiries should be made to
the company secretary at the address on page 5.

Former Executive Directors

Barbara Buckley, Chief Medical Officer, was appointed in December 2016 and left the Trust on 31
January 2019.
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Evaluation of the Board of Directors' performance

The Board of Directors met monthly. There were 11 meetings of the Board, five of which were held in
public. They took place on 24 April, 29 May, 22 June, 5 July, 2 August, 30 August, 4 October, 1
November, 29 November, 31 January and 7 March.

Name Title Attended
Susan Aylen-Peacock Non-Executive Director 6/7
Eddie Bloomfield Non-Executive Director 4/4
Barbara Buckley Chief Medical Officer 8/10
Laurence Collins Non-Executive Director 6/7
Jude Chin Non-Executive Director 3/3
Tim Fenton Non-Executive Director 6/7
Shane Gordon Director of Strategy, Research and Innovation 11/11
Nick Hulme Chief Executive 10/11
Richard Kearton Non-Executive Director 3/4
Diane Leacock Non-Executive Director 9/9
Mike Meers Director of ICT 11/11
Neill Moloney Deputy Chief Executive 9/11
Catherine Morgan Chief Nurse 11/11
Elaine Noske Non-Executive Director 1/4
Julie Parker Non-Executive Director 11/11
Dawn Scrafield Director of Finance 8/11
Jan Smith Non-Executive Director 1/3
Richard Spencer Non-Executive Director 4/4
Carole Taylor-Brown Non-Executive Director 3/4
Helen Taylor Non-Executive Director 6/8
Angela Tillett Medical Director/Interim Chief Medical Officer 3/4
David White Chair 9/11
Richard Youngs Non-Executive Director 4/4

Board development

Board development takes place in workshops and seminars on the days when the Board meets. During
the year, the Board had sessions on developing ESNEFT’s strategy, the Sustainability and
Transformation Programme, risk management and developing the Trust’s risk appetite.

Following the appointment of six substantive NEDs, four of whom were new members of the Board, an
induction programme took place for all of the NEDs. Among other things, this development session
covered the regulatory and financial framework in the NHS, the patient pathway and the context for
healthcare in Suffolk and North Essex.

Ongoing development

The Chair holds team and one-to-one meetings with the Chief Executive and Non-Executive Directors as
required.

Appraisal process for the Chair and Non-Executive Directors

The Chair and company secretary worked with the Council of Governors to maintain the appraisal
process for the Chair and Non-Executive Directors.
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The Chair is formally appraised by the senior independent director in conjunction with the Council of
Governors via its Appointments and Performance Committee.

Appraisal of Non-Executive Directors is carried out by the Chair, advised by the Lead Governor, and
reported in the Council of Governors via the Appointments and Performance Committee. The new Non-
Executive Directors who joined the Board on 1 November 2018 will not receive an appraisal in 2018/19,
but will receive a six-month review in April 2019.

Appraisal process for Executive Directors

An appraisal process is in place for the Chief Executive and other Executive Directors. The Chair
appraises the Chief Executive and the Chief Executive appraises the Executive Directors, reporting to
the Remuneration and Nomination Committee on the process and outcome of the appraisals.

Board and committee effectiveness

Before the merger, all of the Board committees completed self-assessment surveys of their own
effectiveness. Areas for potential improvement were identified and actioned with immediate effect
through reviews of administration procedures and updates to the committees’ terms of reference.

Due to new committee chairing and membership arrangements following the appointment of substantive
Non-Executive Directors, a limited committee effectiveness review has taken place in the final quarter of
2018/19.

NHSI observed the Finance and Performance Committee and the Quality and Patient Safety committee
during Q4 and will complete their review in 2019/20 with an observation of the Trust Board. Feedback
from these observations and the ‘Well-Led Framework review’, along with the results of a follow-up of the
committee self-assessment surveys, will be reported back to the Board in the first quarter of 2019.

Governance arrangements

The Board’s governance arrangements are described in more detail in the Annual Governance
Statement. The Board finished the year with six committees. All are chaired by a Non-Executive Director
and meet regularly, based on an agreed business cycle, and report to the Board of Directors. Governors
have been assigned as observers to these committees and provide their feedback to the Council of
Governors on their effectiveness.

The committees of the Trust Board are:

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee

Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee

Finance and Performance Assurance Committee

People and Organisational Development Assurance Committee
Charitable Funds and Sponsorship Committee

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee

This committee is responsible for reviewing the establishment and maintenance of an effective system of
integrated governance, risk management and internal control across the whole of the Trust’'s activities
(both clinical and non-clinical) which support the achievement of the organisation’s objectives.

It also ensures there is an effective internal audit function, established by management, which meets

mandatory NHS internal audit standards and provides independent assurance to the Audit and Risk
Assurance Committee, Chief Executive and Board of Directors.
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The committee also reviews the work and findings of the external auditors appointed by the Council of
Governors and considers the implications of their findings and recommendations and related
management responses.

The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee held five meetings: 11 May, 24 May, 24 July, 6 November and
26 February.

Members and meetings attended in brackets: Jude Chin, Committee Chair (to 30 June) (2/2), Diane
Leacock, Committee Chair (1 July to 30 November) (4/4), Jan Smith (1/1), Richard Kearton (1/1),
Richard Youngs, Committee Chair (from 1 December) (2/2), Helen Taylor (2/3), Julie Parker (1/2).

Executive Directors (voting and non-voting) in attendance: Dawn Scrafield, Barbara Buckley, Mike
Meers, Neill Moloney, Ann Alderton, Denver Greenhalgh

Internal auditors

Internal audit was provided by Mazars Public Sector Internal Audit Ltd and TIAA Ltd. Their role is to
provide independent assurance that our risk management, governance and internal control processes
are operating effectively

External auditors

The Council of Governors appointed BDO UK LLP as the Trust’s external auditors from 1 April 2017 for
three years.

The responsibility of the Trust’s external auditors is to independently audit the financial statements and
part of the remuneration report in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). They also provide independent assurance on the
Quality Report.

The Trust ensures that the external auditors’ independence is not compromised by work outside the
Audit Code by having an agreed protocol for non-audit work. Non-audit work may be performed by the
Trust’s external auditors where the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee’s approved procedure is
followed, which ensures all such work is properly considered and the auditors’ objectivity and
independence are safeguarded.

Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee

This committee’s main duties are to:

e Oversee the development and implementation of a quality strategy with a clear focus on
improvement, drawing on and benchmarking against ideas and best practice from external
organisations.

¢ Review trends in patient safety, experience and outcomes (effectiveness) to provide assurance to
the Board on performance against key quality performance indicators and undertake “deep dives”
as appropriate.

e Receive reports on significant concerns or adverse findings highlighted by external bodies in
relation to clinical quality and safety and the actions being taken by management to address
them. These should include mortality outlier alerts.

¢ Oversee the implementation of improvement plans relating to reports of regulators and other
external review bodies with responsibility for quality and safety.

¢ Oversee the development and implementation of action plans arising from both inpatient and
other care related surveys with recommendations to the Board as appropriate.

60



Annual Report, Annual Accounts and Quality Report 1 April 2018 — 31 March 2019

e Consider the impact of quality impact assessments of cost improvement programmes on quality,
patient safety and wider health and safety requirements.

¢ Oversee the effectiveness of the clinical systems established by the Trust to ensure they
maintain compliance with the CQC’s Essential Standards of Quality and Safety.

¢ Monitor and review the systems and processes in place at the Trust in relation to infection control
and to review progress against identified risks to reducing hospital-acquired infections.

¢ Review aggregated analyses of adverse events (including serious incidents), complaints, claims
and litigation to identify common themes and trends and gain assurance that appropriate actions
are being taken to address them.

e Advise the Board of key strategic risks relating to quality and patient safety and consider plans for
mitigation as appropriate.

The Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee held 11 meetings:19 April, 25 May, 18 June, 24
July, 25 September, 23 October, 22 November, 18 December, 22 January, 26 February and 26 March.

Members and meetings attended in brackets: Susan Aylen-Peacock, Committee Chair (to 30 June
2018) (6/6), Julie Parker (4/6), Tim Fenton (1/3), Helen Taylor, Committee Chair (from 1 July 2018) (9/9),
Laurence Collins (5/5) and Carole Taylor-Brown (5/5).

Executive Directors in attendance: Catherine Morgan, Dr Angela Tillett, Dr Barbara Buckley, Neill
Moloney.

Finance and Performance Assurance Committee

This committee’s remit is to:

¢ Oversee the development and implementation of the Trust’s financial and performance strategy
to deliver the service objectives as set out in the Forward Plan and to ensure delivery of financial
and performance targets.

¢ Monitor delivery of the Trust’s cost improvement programme and the development of efficiency
and productivity processes.

e Oversee the investment and borrowing strategy and policy, reviewing performance against
Treasury management benchmarks and targets and ensuring compliance with Trust policies and
procedures in respect of limits, approved counterparties and types of investment.

e Receive monthly reports on financial and operational performance, including cost improvement
programmes, noting any trends, exceptions and variances against plans on a Trust-wide and
divisional basis and undertaking “deep dives” as appropriate.

e Under direction from the Board, oversee and scrutinise the investment appraisal of business
cases and wider business development opportunities.

e Oversee the contracting and planning mechanisms in place with commissioners of healthcare to
agree annual or longer term contracts as may be appropriate, seeking to ensure that any
financial or operational risks arising from those contracts are identified and mitigated as
appropriate.

e Oversee the rolling capital programme, including scrutiny of the prioritisation process, and
monitor its delivery.

e Advise the Board of key strategic risks relating to financial and operational performance and
consider plans for mitigation as appropriate.

The Finance and Performance Assurance Committee held 12 meetings: 18 April, 23 May, 20 June, 26
July, 23 August, 27 September, 25 October, 22 November, 20 December, 24 January, 28 February and
28 March.

Members and meetings attended in brackets: Julie Parker, Committee Chair (10/10), Jude Chin (3/3),

Jan Smith (2/3), Richard Kearton (3/4), Elaine Noske (2/4), Eddie Bloomfield (5/5) and Laurence Collins
(5/5).
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Executive Directors in attendance: Dawn Scrafield, Catherine Morgan, Neill Moloney, Dr Barbara
Buckley.

People and Organisational Development Assurance Committee

This committee’s main duties are to:

o Oversee the Trust’s strategy and plans on workforce issues, including the efficient deployment of
staff to meet service requirements, advising the Board on strategic and operational risks and
opportunities relating to workforce, staff engagement and employment practice.

o Oversee the Trust’s strategy and plans for workforce education, learning and development, and
provide assurance to the Board that individual training and development approaches are fit for
purpose.

¢ Receive details of workforce planning priorities that arise from the annual business planning
process and to receive exception reports on any significant issues/risks.

e Ensure that effective workforce enablers are put in place to drive high performance and quality
improvement.

e Review performance indicators relevant to the remit of the committee.

¢ Monitor and evaluate the Trust’s compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty.

¢ Mandate the scope of negotiations on changes to reward systems within the Trust and to keep
oversight and impact of benefits management.

e Receive and review regular reports on organisational development, including leadership
capability, workforce planning, cost management, regulation of the workforce and its health and
wellbeing.

¢ Receive and review reports on the NHS Staff Survey and other staff engagement data and
ensure that action plans support improvement in staff experience and services to patients.

e Advise the Board of key strategic risks relating to workforce and employment practice and
consider plans for mitigation as appropriate.

The People and Organisational Development Assurance Committee met 10 times: 18 April, 23 May, 22
June, 26 July, 27 September, 25 October, 22 November, 24 January, 28 February and 28 March.

Members and meetings attended in brackets: Members and meetings attended in brackets: Diane
Leacock, Committee Chair (to 31 October) (6/6), Susan Aylen-Peacock (3/3), Tim Fenton (5/6),
Laurence Collins (2/3), Carole Taylor-Brown, Committee Chair (from 1 November) (3/3), Richard
Spencer (3/3) and Richard Youngs (3/3).

Executive Directors in attendance: Dawn Scrafield, Catherine Morgan, Dr Barbara Buckley, Dr Angela
Tillett

Charitable Funds and Sponsorship Committee

The Charitable Funds and Sponsorship Committee has delegated responsibility from the Board of
Directors to adhere to the principles and responsibilities of trusteeship as defined by the Charity
Commission and the Trustee Act 2000, Section 11. In the main, the committee reviews the policies and
procedures for fundraising, acceptance and expenditure, including the internal control arrangements
operating within the Trust for charitable funds.

The committee includes representation from operational senior managers from across the Trust. Eight

formal meetings of the committee were held: 21 May, 25 July, 23 October, 20 November, 18 December,
23 January, 26 February and 26 March.
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Members and meetings attended in brackets: Susan Aylen-Peacock, Committee Chair (to 31 October
2018) (3/3), Jan Smith (1/1), Tim Fenton (1/2), Laurence Collins (0/2), Richard Spencer, Committee
Chair (from 1 November) (5/5), Eddie Bloomfield (5/5), Richard Youngs (4/5)

Executive Directors in attendance: Dawn Scrafield, Barbara Buckley, Catherine Morgan, Shane
Gordon

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee also fulfils the role of a nomination committee and
reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board of Directors and makes recommendations for
changes where and when appropriate. It also considers succession planning arrangements, taking into
account the challenges and opportunities facing the Trust and the skills and expertise required on the
Board of Directors. This committee is responsible for advising on the appointment and/or dismissal of
Executive Directors. It is also responsible for the approval of their remuneration and terms of service and
the monitoring of their performance against delivery of organisational objectives.

The Trust Chair is the Chair of the committee and the membership comprises all the Non-Executive
Directors. The Chief Executive, Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development and the
company secretary are routinely invited to attend these meetings except when their own terms and
conditions are under discussion. An appointments panel of the Remuneration and Nomination
Committee is convened when permanent executive appointments are to be made. All appointments are
by public advertisement. External assessors are part of the recruitment process.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee held four meetings: 10 May, 29 May, 4 October and 31
January. An appointments panel was convened to appoint to the post of Director of Communications.

Members and meetings attended in brackets: David White, Chair (4/4), Susan Aylen-Peacock (3/3),
Jude Chin (2/3), Tim Fenton (2/3), Jan Smith (1/2), Julie Parker (3/4), Diane Leacock (1/3), Helen Taylor
(2/2), Laurence Collins (2/2), Richard Kearton (0/1), Elaine Noske (0/1), Eddie Bloomfield (1/1), Carole
Taylor-Brown (1/1), Richard Spencer (1/1), Richard Youngs (1/1)

The committee did not commission any advice or assistance during the year.
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Remuneration Report (unaudited)

The purpose of the Remuneration Report is to provide a statement to stakeholders on the decisions of
the Remuneration and Nomination Committee relating to the Executive Directors of the Board of
Directors. In preparing this report, the Trust has ensured it complies with the relevant sections of the
Companies Act 2006 and related regulations and elements of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of
Governance.

Annual Statement on Remuneration
Statement of the Chair of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee

The shadow board for East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust was in place from 1 April
2018, with appointees undertaking their shared responsibilities for Colchester Hospital University NHS
Foundation Trust and Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust concurrently. Executive appointments to the ESNEFT
Board were confirmed by the committee in May 2018 and came into effect from 1 July 2018.

Decisions on Executive remuneration were based on available benchmarking information from a NHS
Providers survey, the advice of the executive search firm supporting the appointments and other market
intelligence. Directors are employed on service contracts whose provisions are consistent with those
relating to other employees within the Trust.

Following publication of NHS Improvement’s Guidance on Pay for Very Senior Managers, all new
appointments to the Trust where the salary is over £150,000 are subject to an element of earn-back pay.
This means that a percentage of base pay (normally at least 10%) is placed at risk, subject to the
individual meeting agreed performance objectives.

Remuneration and performance conditions

With the exception of those individuals subject to earn-back pay, the remuneration of the Directors and
Non-Executive Directors does not include any individual performance-related component. Their
remuneration is subject to an annual review which takes into account a benchmarking comparison with
other similar organisations, general labour market conditions and the Board’s collective achievement of
organisational objectives.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee reviewed benchmarked data at its meeting on 29 May
when it confirmed the executive appointments to the ESNEFT Board. Where there were increases in
remuneration, they came into effect on 1 July 2018, which was the date of the merger. Service contracts
for Directors do not contain any obligations which could give rise to or impact on remuneration payments
or payments for loss of office.

The remuneration of the Chair and Non-Executive Directors is decided by the Council of Governors
following advice from the Appointments and Performance Committee. To determine the remuneration,
the committee uses the data from an annual survey undertaken by NHS Providers. The level of
remuneration for Non-Executive Directors is based on an average expected workload of a minimum of
four days a month and a minimum of three days a week for the Chair.

To determine Executive Directors’ salary levels, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee uses
mainly the data from the annual NHS Providers survey along with the benchmarking information
provided by external search organisations supporting executive director recruitment.

Decisions relating to salary levels in the rest of the organisation are factored into the Remuneration and
Nomination Committee’s discussion of Executive Director salaries and the Appointments and
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Performance Committee’s discussion of Non-Executive Director salaries. The committee does not
consult with employees when considering its policy on senior managers’ remuneration.

Other than the Trust’s Medical Director, amendments to annual salary are decided by the Remuneration
and Nomination Committee. The annual salary of the Executive Directors is inclusive of all cash benefits
other than business mileage. The Medical Director’s salary is in accordance with the medical and dental
consultants’ terms and conditions of service. The special allowance for undertaking the role of Medical
Director is approved by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Five of the Trust’s eight Executive Directors in post during the year were on remuneration packages of
more than £150,000, which is the threshold used in the Civil Service for approval by the Chief Secretary
to the Treasury, as set out in guidance issued by the Cabinet Office. This currently equates to the Prime
Minister’s ministerial and parliamentary salary.

Only two of these — the Chief Executive and Managing Director — were appointed by the Trust following
the introduction of the requirement to seek approval, via NHS Improvement, from the Chief Secretary to
the Treasury for the remuneration package.

There were no new applications to the Treasury during 2018/19 following the benchmarked review of
remuneration for the appointments to the Board. No payments were made during the year for loss of
office or to past senior managers.

Salary is set at a level appropriate to secure and retain the high calibre individuals needed to deliver the
Trust’s strategic priorities, without paying more than is necessary.

When determining salary levels, an individual’s role, experience and performance, and independently
sourced data for relevant comparator groups are considered. Salary increases typically take effect from
1 April each year.

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in
place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme regulations are complied with. This
includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme
are in accordance with the Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately
updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the regulations.

Senior managers’ remuneration policy

Contractual compensation provisions for early termination of Executive Directors’
contracts

There are no special contractual compensation provisions for early termination of Executive Directors’
contracts. Early termination by reason of redundancy is subject to the normal provisions of the Agenda
for Change: NHS Terms and Conditions of Service Handbook (Section 16); or, for those above the
minimum retirement age, early termination by reason of redundancy is in accordance with the NHS
Pension Scheme. Employees above the minimum retirement age who themselves request termination
by reason of early retirement are subject to the normal provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme.

Principles on which the determination of payments for loss of office, an indication of how each
component will be calculated and whether, and if so how, the circumstances of the loss of office and the
senior manager’s performance are relevant to any exercise of discretion are considered on a case by
case basis by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

Annual report on remuneration
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Duration of contracts, notice periods and termination payments

Details of Directors’ contracts and notice periods are summarised in the Board of Directors’ profiles
section (page 54). With the exception of the Medical Director, Executive Directors are appointed to
substantive contracts.

There was one interim Board appointment during the year. Dr Angela Tillett was appointed as Interim
Chief Medical Officer following Dr Barbara Buckley’s resignation on 31 January 2019.

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Details on the meetings of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee are provided on page 61. The
committee has a clear policy on the remuneration ranges for every Executive Director position. Any
decisions that fall outside the parameters of the policy, which are due to exceptional circumstances for
example, are subject to further discussion and approval by the committee.

Median salary as a multiple of highest paid director salary (subject to audit)

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest paid
director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in ESNEFT in the financial year 2018/19 was
£212,100 (2017/18: £212,500). This was 7.9 times (2017/18: 8.99) the median remuneration of the
workforce, which was £26,963 (2017/18: £23,597).

In 2018/19, seven (2017/18, 0) employees received remuneration in excess of the highest paid director.
Remuneration ranged from £7,215 to £306,776 (2017/18: £6,844 — £212,500). Total remuneration
includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind. It does not include
severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of
pensions.

Salaries for senior managers are established and maintained taking the following elements into
consideration: the individual’s role, experience and performance and independently sourced data for
relevant comparable organisations. This includes consideration of salary levels at other members of
ESNEFT. Salaries for senior managers are formally reviewed every three years with annual interim
reviews.

When setting remuneration levels for the executive directors, the committee considers the prevailing
market conditions, the competitive environment (in particular through comparison with the remuneration
of executives at other leading NHS healthcare organisations of similar size and complexity) and the
positioning and relativities of pay and employment conditions across the broader Trust workforce.

The remuneration committee has responsibility for authorising the engagement of any staff member on a
non-agenda for change contract or salary.

Salary and pension entitlement of the Board of Directors

The Chief Executive has determined that “senior managers”, being those staff in senior positions who
have authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the Trust, are the

Executive and Non-Executive Directors. The remuneration, salary and pension entitlements of the Board
of Directors are detailed on pages 65 to 67. These disclosures have been audited.
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Directors and Governors expenses

Information on the expenses of Directors and Governors is required by the Health and Social Care Act
2012.

There were 23 Directors eligible to claim expenses during 2018/19. Of these, 18 made claims totalling
£20,683.

A total of 38 Governors were eligible to claim expenses. Of these, 11 made claims totalling £2,020.69.

Signed

L,

Nick Hulme
Chief Executive
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Salary and allowances of senior managers (subject to audit)

Salary Expenses Performance Longterm All TOTAL
payments pay and performance pension-
bonuses pay and related
bonuses benefits

(rounded
(bands of to
£5,000) nearest
£000 £100) £5,000) £5,000) £2,500) £5,000)
£00

(bands of (bands of (bands of (bands of

Nick Hulme Chief Executive 190 — 195 0 0 0 5-75 195 - 200
Neill Moloney Chief Operating Officer/ 150 — 155 1 0 0 127.5—- | 280 - 285
Managing Director 130
Michael Meers Director of Information 90-95 0 0 0 87.5-90 | 180 - 185
Communication and Technology
David White Chairman 50 - 55 6 0 0 0 50-55
Tony Thompson Non-Executive Director 0 0 0 0 0 0
(Left 30/06/2018)
Andrew George Non-Executive Director 0 1 0 0-5 0 0-5
(Left 30/06/2018)
Laurence Collins Non-Executive Director 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10
Elaine Noske Non-Executive Director 0-5 0 0 0 0 0-5
(Left 31/10/2018)
Helen Taylor Non-Executive Director 5-10 5 0 0 0 5-10
Richard Kearton Non-Executive Director 0-5 2 0 0 0 0-5
(Left 31/10/2018)
Barbara Buckley Chief Medical Officer 155 - 160 0 0 0-5 0 160 — 165
(Left 31/01/2019)
Catherine Morgan Chief Nurse 135 - 140 0 0 0 77.5-80 | 215-220
Angela Tillett Medical Director (from 25-30 0 0 10-15 67.5-70 | 105-110
01/07/2019)
Chief Medical Officer (from
01/02/2019)
Shane Gordon Director of Integration 185 -190 0 0 10-15 0 195 - 200
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Dawn Scrafield Director of Finance 150 — 155 0 0 115 - 265 - 270
117.5

Jude Chin Non-Executive Director 0-5 0 0 0 0-5

(Left 30/06/2018)

Tim Fenton Non-Executive Director 5-10 0 0 0 5-10

(Left 31/10/2018)

Diane Leacock Non-Executive Director 5-10 0 0 0 5-10

(Left 30/11/2018)

Julie Parker Non-Executive Director 10-15 0 0 0 10-15

Jan Smith Non-Executive Director 0-5 0 0 0 0-5

(Left 30/06/2018)

Edward Bloomfield Non-Executive Director 5-10 2 0 0 5-10

(From 01/11/2018)

Richard Spencer Non-Executive Director 5-10 2 0 0 5-10

(From 01/11/2018)

Carole Taylor-Brown Non-Executive Director 5-10 3 0 0 5-10

(From 01/11/2018)

Richard Youngs Non-Executive Director 5-10 5 0 0 5-10

(From 01/11/2018)

Susan Aylen-Peacock Non-Executive Director 5-10 0 0 0 5-10

(Left 01/11/2018)

Comparative table showing salary and allowances of senior managers in 2017/18

Susan Aylen-Peacock

(bands of £5,000)

Non-Executive Director

Salary

0[00)
10-15

Expense payments

(taxable) total to

nearest £100
£00

All pension-related
benefits
(bands of £2,500)
£000

(bands of £5,000)

£000
10-15

Barbara Buckley
from 1 December 2016

Managing Director and
Deputy Chief Executive

200 - 205

237.5-240

440 — 445
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Jude Chin Non-Executive Director 15-20 - 15-20
and Deputy Chair
Tim Fenton Non-Executive Director 10-15 - 10-15
from 8 December 2016
Julie Fryatt Director of Workforce and 45 -50 5-75 50-55
to 21 August 2017 Organisational
Development
Nick Hulme ! Chief Executive 115-120 15-17.5 135 - 140
from 17 May 2016
Diane Leacock Non-Executive Director 10-15 — 10-15
Roy Miller 2 Acting Medical Director 60 — 65 10-12.5 70-75
from 1 April 2017to 1
October 2017
Catherine Morgan Director of Nursing 130 - 135 137.5-140 265 - 270
from 23 January 2017
Julie Parker Non-Executive Director 10-15 — 10-15
Dawn Scrafield Director of Finance 130 - 135 22.5-25 155 - 160
Jan Smith Non—Executive Director 10-15 — 10-15
Angela Tillett 3 Medical Director 75-80 7.5-10 85-90
David White 4 Chair 35-40 - 35-40
from 6 May 2016

1. N Hulme is also the Chief Executive of The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust. The salary he received for that appointment in this period in bands of £5,000 was £90,000 -
£95,000.

2. R Miller receives a salary for his role as a medical consultant. The salary for working as a medical consultant in this period in bands of £5,000 was £45,000 - £50,000.
3. A Tillett receives a salary for her role as a medical consultant. In 2017/18, Dr Tillett took a period of special leave due to ill health from 1 April to 30 September and
during this time she received her full salary and allowances in accordance with the terms and conditions of her NHS employment contract. The salary shown for 2017/18
therefore only reflects the period 1 October 2017 to 31 March 2018 when she returned to her Board duties as Medical Director. The salary for working as a medical
consultant in this period in bands of £5,000 was £25,000 - £30,000.

4. D White is also the Chair of The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust. The salary he received for that appointment in this period in bands of £5,000 was £25,000 - £30,000.
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Pension benefits (subject to audit)

Real Real Total Lump sum at Cash Cash Real Employers
increase in increase in accrued age 60 equivalent equivalent increase in  contributions
pension at pension pension at related to transfer transfer cash to

age 60 lump sum at age 60 at 31 accrued value at 31 value at 31 equivalent stakeholder
age 60 March 2019 pension at March 2019 March 2018 transfer pension
age 60 at 31 value
March 2019
(bands of (bands of (bands of (bands of
£2,500) £2,500) £5,000) £5,000)
£ 20[0[0) £ 20[0[0) 20[0]0) £000 £ 20[0]0) e {0[0]0) £ 20[0]0) £ 20[0]0)

Neill Moloney 10-125 55 — 60 135 — 140 1012 | 752 | 160 | 0 |

Dawn Scrafield 5-75 75-10 45 - 50 100 - 105 672 502 132 0

The financial information in the table above is derived from information provided to the Trust from the NHS Pensions Agency. Whilst the Trust accepts
responsibility for the disclosed values, the Trust is reliant upon NHS Pensions Agency for the accuracy of the information provided to it, and has no way of
auditing these figures. The figures are therefore shown in good faith as an accurate reflection of the senior managers’ pensions’ information.

There will be no entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive Directors as they do not receive pensionable remuneration.

Cash equivalent transfer values

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point
in time. The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment
made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and
chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure applies. The CETV figures
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and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual had transferred to the NHS
pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service
in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions
paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation
factors for the start and end of the period.

Accounting policy for pensions can be found in the notes of the accounts.

Key management compensation can be found in the accounts.
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Staff report

On 31 March 2018, the Trust directly employed 10,045 staff (8,374 full time equivalents (FTE).

The Trust also reviewed its acuity staffing levels on the wards, resulting in an increase in the
establishment required to meet patient need safely.

Number of Trust staff
Establishment (FTE)
9,224

Headcount
10,045

Staff in post (FTE)

31 March 2019 8,374

Staff costs (subject to audit)

2018/19

Permanent (£000) Other(£000) Total (£000)
Salaries and wages 260,557 1,664 262,221
Social security 26,888 0 26,888
costs
Apprenticeship levy 1,302 0 1,302
Employer 32,154 0 32,154
contributions to
NHS Pension
Scheme
NEST pension 21 0 21
contributions
Termination 0 0 0
benefits
Agency/ bank staff 0 49,469 49,469
Total 320,922 51,133 372,055

Average staff numbers (subject to audit)

The average staff numbers by staff group is shown below. This calculation is based on the whole time
equivalent (FTE) number of employees in each week in the financial year, divided by the number of
weeks in the financial year.

2018/19

Average number of
employees (FTE basis) Total Permanent Other

Medical and dental 951 886 65
Administration and estates 1,992 1,830 162
Healthcare assistants and other 1,598 1,409 189
support staff

Nursing, midwifery and health 2,400 2,116 284
visiting staff

Scientific, therapeutic and 640 597 43
technical staff

Healthcare science staff 333 290 43
Total average numbers 7,914 7,128 786
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Membership of the Trust

The data in the table below is sourced from the Trust's membership database and therefore analyses staff
members, not just employees. “Staff” includes any qualifying Trust employee and hospital volunteers so the
number in the table below is greater than the number of staff employed by the Trust.

Staff members 2018/19 Public members 2018/19
0 to 16 years 0 4
17 to 21 years 95 20
22+ years 10,627 9,707
Not specified 101 1,207
Total 10,823 11,005
Not specified 1,773 1,890
White 7,520 8,545
Mixed 168 105
Asian or Asian British 1,080 269
Black or Black British 209 135
Other ethnic group 73 61
Other 0 0
Total 10,823 11,005
Gender |
Male 2,498 4,233
Female 8,325 6,437
Transgender 0 0
Not specified/ prefer not to
say 0 335
Total 10,823 11,005

Sickness absence

Staff sickness absence \ 2018/19

Total WTE calendar days lost 105,951
Total WTE days available 3,045,523
Total staff years lost (days lost/365) 289.48
Total staff years available 10,045
Total staff employed in period* 12,399
Total staff employed in period with absence* 6,076
Total staff employed in period with no absence* 6,323
Average working days lost per employee 10.55

* headcount, including starters and leavers. Source: Electronic Staff Record

Gender equality

The table below shows the breakdown of male and female Directors, other senior managers and
employees. The Non-Executive Directors and Directors who were on interim off-payroll contracts as at
31 March are not classed as employees and are not therefore covered in the total number of staff
employed by the Trust figure of 10,045.
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Role | Female VEE Notes

Non-Executive Directors 3 5 Includes Chair
Executive Directors 9 7 Includes Chief Executive
Other senior managers 19 13 Bands 8d and above
Employees 7,698 2,291

Total 7,729 2,316

Employment of disabled people

We are committed to eliminating discrimination, both within the workforce and in the provision of
services. The Trust has a legal responsibility under the Equality Act 2010 to:

e eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation;
e advance equality of opportunity; and
o foster good relations between persons who share a relevant characteristic and those who do not.

Recruitment
The Trust makes sure that disabled applicants are always fully and fairly considered on their

merits, as with any individual. Any applicant who meets the minimum criteria for selection is invited for
interview.

Via our recruitment policy, we make sure that the implementation of the recruitment and selection
practices will not discriminate directly or indirectly on the grounds of gender, sexual orientation, marriage
or civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, caring responsibility, ethnic or national origin, religion,
culture, disability, age or trade union membership.

Number of employees who were trade union officials Whole time equivalent
Percentage of time spent on facility time Number of employees
0% 12
1%-50% 9
51% - 99% 0
100% 0
owlcosto fagitytime __cows
Total pay bill 372,055,000
Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 0.01%

Time spent on trade union activities as percentage of total facilities time Percentage

2040 Hours Activity (statutory and Trust meetings only) 76%

The workplace

The Trust provides an occupational health service which can be accessed by all staff. It is provided by a
multidisciplinary team, and as well as specialist practitioners in occupational health also includes clinical
nurses, technicians and a consultant.

If an employee becomes disabled, the Trust will, via line managers and the health and wellbeing
department, maintain regular contact with them to monitor progress, give support and, at an agreed and
appropriate stage, consider possible courses of action. This can include a phased return to work and
consideration of the effect any disability might have on future employment.
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The Trust seeks to offer terms and conditions of service which will enable suitably qualified person with a
disability to seek and maintain employment with the organisation wherever practicable.

Policies

We carry out equality impact assessments for equality analysis when reviewing policies or when
planning changes to services as part of organisational change processes to ensure our functions and
services are not discriminatory.

Training

It is important for all staff to have equal opportunities with others to develop new skills and advance their
careers. This includes mandatory training, clinical skills and personal development.

All staff with additional needs should have those needs addressed wherever possible by the Trust in
terms of induction. This includes staff who:

qualified abroad (EC and overseas)

are returning to work after a prolonged absence
are training part-time

are under the age of 18

have a disability

Ultimately, it is the responsibility of the line manager to ensure that staff with additional needs are treated
equitably during their employment with the Trust.

All staff are required to undertake equality and diversity training, with compliance currently standing at
91.73%. Training is also provided and is tailored to role requirements in the following areas:

dementia

deprivation of liberties

learning disability

Mental Capacity Act

recognising and safeguarding the adult at risk
mental health awareness

In terms of mental health awareness, the Trust continues to work in partnership with Suffolk MIND to roll
out ‘Your Needs Met’ training to all leaders. This will help to:

e Undo misconceptions about mental health and raise awareness of people’s emotional needs.
e Address the causes of low morale which will help to improve staff engagement.
e Begin to reduce the cost of sickness absence.

Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES)

Results of the annual NHS Staff Survey show that disabled staff consistently report higher levels of
bullying and harassment and less satisfaction with appraisals and career development opportunities. The
Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES) will be introduced to the NHS from 1 April 2019 to improve

the experience of disabled staff who a seeking to work in the NHS or already do so.

The WDES is mandated by the NHS standard contract and is a data-based standard which uses a series
of measures to help improve the experiences of disabled staff in the NHS. The 10 evidence-based
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metrics will enable NHS organisations to compare the reported outcomes and experiences of disabled
staff with non-disabled staff.

The first reports will be published on 1 August 2019 and based on data from the 2018/19 financial year.

Staff engagement

Organisational development

Following the merger, we identified that some immediate short-term organisational development input and
support would be needed within our clinical divisions. As with any significant change, leaders and managers
were facing fresh challenges while new teams were trying to form without any specific development support.
This took place against a backdrop of growing day-to-day demands.

We involved a range of individuals and teams in our discussions, and also observed team meetings. An
action plan based on this work was developed with the aim of providing leaders and staff with immediate
support following the merger.

Its objectives included:

e providing some stability to leaders post-merger
¢ identifying barriers to success and introducing initiatives to overcome obstacles
e providing support and investment to improve morale and engagement

Work began to deliver the plan at the end of 2018 and will continue during 2019/20.

Other initiatives have continued to be delivered across all areas of the Trust, including stand-alone
leadership development modules, a consultant development programme, operational leads programme
and Mary Seacole local.

Leadership

Leadership events have continued in 2018/19 and involved leaders from across the Trust. As well as two
senior leadership conferences, we also ran two very successful middle managers conferences in November
which focused on what was expected of leaders. Outcomes from these conferences will help to inform our
leadership behaviour framework.

Valuing our staff

During 2018/19, we continued to recognise staff and volunteers through our Trust commendation scheme,
which gives colleagues, patients and the public the chance to nominate the people they feel have made
outstanding contributions.

Everyone who is nominated receives a letter from the chief executive with the citation included. Winners

are visited by a member of the Executive team who present them with their certificate.

Staff Partnership Forum
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The Staff Partnership Forum is made up of management and staff side union representatives. It meets bi-
monthly and its agenda includes business updates, future strategy and a review of key performance
indicators. The agenda is agreed jointly between staff side and management.

A partnership agreement is in place to outline the role the forum plays in supporting staff management and
organisational development, along with the organisational and financial support the Trust provides to
recognised union representatives.

The Trust funds 5.65 days a month of dedicated facility time, which enables the release of the staff side
Chair, branch secretary and senior stewards to attend meetings, undertake specific union activity and
support HR case work. Additional support from shop floor union stewards is funded by releasing staff
from their substantive post. Secretarial support is provided by the HR team.

Freedom to Speak Up
In January, our Board approved a new ‘speaking up’ vision for the Trust, which is:

We encourage our staff to raise concerns openly, or anonymously if they prefer, safe in the
knowledge they will be supported if they do, to make our trust a positive and trustworthy place to
work and receive care.

This reinforces the intent of the Trusts leadership to fully support the Freedom to Speak Up guardian in
his business. Tom Fleetwood remains in post having been appointed in December 2017 as one of
ESNEFT’s first joint appointments.

The Trust Board, as senior leaders, are fully aware of their responsibilities to support this role:

e They can readily articulate the Trust's Freedom to Speak Up vision, as well as key learning from
issues which workers raised previously. They also regularly communicate the value of speaking
up.

e They can provide evidence that a leadership strategy and development programme are in place
which emphasises the importance of learning from issues raised by people who speak up.

e They take an interest in the Trust’s speaking up culture and are proactive in developing ideas and
initiatives to support speaking up.

e They are visible, approachable and use a variety of methods to seek and act on feedback from
workers.

We recognise that cultural change cannot happen without leaders being open and responsive to staff
when they speak up. This needs to become a feature of our organisation, normal practice to all and
applicable at every level.

We remain committed to embedding a Freedom to Speak Up culture across all Trust sites which:

e supports staff in raising concerns

e reacts to and actions those concerns

o feeds back and learns

e does not victimise or hold to account those who speak up

We continue to encourage our staff to raise concerns in whichever way they feel most comfortable. This
can be via their line manager, trade union representative, our health and wellbeing department or the
human resources department. We also encourage the use of a confidential helpline and email, available
at raising.concerns@esneft.nhs.uk
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We recognised that there is scope for improvement. Leaders at every level must remind and encourage
those with concerns to raise them, while we will continue to advertise the role of the guardian and
highlight the support which is available.

NHS Staff Survey

In 2017, a national review took place of the NHS Staff Survey to establish what worked well and what
needed improvement. As a result, a number of changes were made to the way the 2018 survey was
carried out.

Ten new key themes have been applied to the survey, replacing the previous ‘key findings’. These are
scored on a 0 to 10 point scale, with a higher score indicating a better result.

These 10 themes are:

Equality, diversity and inclusion

Health and wellbeing

Immediate managers

Morale

Quality of appraisals

Quality of care

Safe environment — bullying and harassment
Safe environment — violence

Safety culture

Staff engagement (which is calculated using the same questions as in previous years, but
adjusted to a 0-10 point scale)

Results
The key headlines from ESNEFT’s first NHS Staff Survey are:

e Our organisation was benchmarked against 43 combined acute and community trusts.

o 39% of staff (3,620) responded compared to a 41% average response rate for similar trusts.

e 90 questions were asked in the survey. The responses to 50 questions showed no significant
difference compared to the average from other combined acute community trusts, whilst the
answers from our staff to the other 40 questions were significantly worse than the average
response rate.

o 55% of staff said they would recommend ESNEFT as a place to work.

e 68% of staff said they would be happy with the standard of care provided if a friend or relative
needed treatment.

o 74% of staff agreed that care of service users is the organisation’s top priority.

e We score significantly lower than average in questions relating to leadership and communication.

Our core strengths are outlined below, and show that our staff are very clear about how to report unsafe
clinical practices and near misses, which keeps our patients safe.

| Top five scores (compared to average)

96% | Q18a. Know how to report unsafe clinical practice
95% | Ql6c¢. Last error/near miss/incident seen that could hurt staff and/or patients/service
users reported
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92% | Q15b. Not experienced discrimination from manager/team leader or other colleagues
99% | Q12c. Not experienced physical violence from other colleagues
100% | Q12b. Not experienced physical violence from managers

Our key issues to address are as follows:

Bottom five scores (compared to average)

73% | Q9a. | know who senior managers are

30% | Q9b. Communication between senior management and staff is effective

24% | Q9d. Senior managers act on staff feedback

46% | Q9g. Supported by manager to receive training, learning or development definitely
identified in appraisal

27% | Q19e. Appraisal/performance review: organisational values definitely discussed

The responses to the three key ‘recommendation’ questions that indicate our overall staff engagement
position are outlined below:

Q21la. Care of Q21c. Iwould Q21d. If afriend or
patients/ service recommend my relative needed
users is my organisation as a treatment, | would be

organisation’s top place to work happy with the
priority standard of care
provided by this

organisation

Best 88.7% 77.3% 90.3%
Our Trust 74.4% 55.3% 68.3%
Average 76.5% 61.1% 69.9%
Worst 59.9% 47.2% 49.2%

The full report of the 2018 NHS Staff Survey for ESNEFT is available at www.nhsstaffsurveys.com

Staff Friends and Family Test

Since April 2014, the Staff Friends and Family Test (FFT) has been carried out in all NHS trusts
providing acute, community, ambulance and mental health services in England. It aims to give staff the
opportunity to feed back their views on their organisation at least once a year, in turn helping to change
the culture of the NHS and make sure the views of staff are heard and acted upon.

Research has shown a relationship between staff engagement and individual and organisational
outcome measures, such as staff absenteeism and turnover, patient satisfaction and mortality; as well as
safety measures such as infection rates. The more engaged staff members are, the better the outcomes
for patients and the organisation generally. It is therefore important to strengthen the voices of staff as
well as patients.

The results of the FFT are as follows:

The % of staff employed by or Reporting CHUFT IHT score  ESNEFT National
under contract to the Trust period score score average
during the reporting period who | 2018/19 75% 81% - 81%
would recommend the Trustas | Q1
a provider of care to their family | 2018/19 - - 72% 81%
and friends Q2
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2018/19 Q3 National NHS Staff Survey
period
2018/19 - - TBA* TBA*
Q4
The % of staff employed by or Reporting CHUFT IHT score  ESNEFT National
under contract to the Trust period score score average
during the reporting period who | 2018/19 49% - 66%
would recommend the Trust as Q1
a place to work 2018/19 - - 33% 64%
Q2
2018/19 Q3 National NHS Staff Survey
period
2018/19 - - TBA* TBA*
Q4

*Data not available at the time of production.
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Review of tax arrangements of public sector appointees

The Trust now publishes information in relation to the number of off-payroll engagements following the
review of tax arrangements of public sector appointees published by the Chief Secretary to the Treasury
on 23 May 2012.

For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that last for
longer than six months:

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2019

Number that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting

Number that have existed for between one and two years at time of reporting

Number that have existed for between two and three years at time of reporting

Number that have existed for between three and four years at time of reporting

OO0 0O|lW|Ww

Number that have existed for four or more years at time of reporting

All new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between
1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, for more than £245 per day and that last for longer than six
months:

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1 | 2
April 2018 and 31 March 2019

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the Trust the right to 2
reguest assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations

Number for whom assurance has been requested 2*
Number for whom assurance has been received 2

Number for whom assurance has not been received
Number terminated as a result of assurance not being received

0
0

* The figure of 2 reflects only those individuals who are contracting directly with the Trust and have been in post for
six months or more. It includes individuals sourced through an agency (NHS procurement contracts require
agencies to seek assurance as to individuals’ tax obligations) and individuals who have not yet been in post for six
months.

Off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or senior officials with significant financial
responsibility, between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019:

Number of off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or, senior officials with 0
significant financial responsibility, during the financial year
Number of individuals that have been deemed “Board members and/or senior officials 6
with significant financial responsibility” during the financial year. This figure should
include both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements

Expenditure on consultancy

Trust expenditure on consultancy in 2018/19 was £1.621m, down from £4.636m last year.
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Consultancy is commissioned when the Trust does not have its own internal resource or expertise to
undertake the work in-house or when specific additional resource is required for a project. The total was
significantly less than during 2017/18, during which consultancy advice on the full business case for the
proposed merger with the Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust and support for the new North Essex and East

Suffolk Pathology Service was required.

Staff exit packages (subject to audit)

Compulsory redundancies

Exit 2018/19 2017/18
package (Colchester Hospital University NHS
cost band Foundation Trust)
Number of Cost of Number of Cost of
compulsory compulsory compulsory compulsory
redundancies redundancies £000 redundancies redundancies £000
<£10,000 0 0 0 0
£10,001 - 0 0 0 0
£25,000
£25,001 - 3 114 0 0
£50,000
£50,001 - 0 0 1 58
£100,000
£100,001 - 0 0 1 131
£150,000
Total 3 114 2 189

This disclosure reports the number and value of exit packages agreed in the year.

Note: The expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or full in a

previous period.

Non-compulsory departure payments

2018/19

2017/18
(CHUFT)

Number |
Contractual 16 25
payments in
lieu of notice

Cost (£000)

Number | Cost (£000)

Exit payments 0 0
following
employment
tribunals or
court orders

Total 16 25
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Foundation Trust code of governance

The Trust has applied the principles of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance on a comply or
explain basis. The code, most recently revised in July 2014, is based on the principles of the UK
Corporate Governance Code issued in 2012. The Board considers that it has complied with the
provisions of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance with the exception of the requirements
relating to evaluation (Code B.6).

Although the Board has continued to undertake a formal and rigorous evaluation of the performance of
Board committees (including external observation by NHS Improvement of its Finance and Performance
Committee and Quality and Patient Safety Committee), it has not evaluated the performance of the Audit
and Risk Committee or the Board of Directors since the merger of Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust and
Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust.

Due to the merger, there was a transitional board in place until November, when the Council of
Governors confirmed the Non-Executive appointments. The Board agreed to give the new Board and
committee members’ time to settle in, and to focus on the development of the new ESNEFT strategy,
before commissioning any evaluation. The Board is, however, assured by the positive feedback from
NHSI on the committee observations and looks forward to their observation of its May meeting.

Similarly, the Trust has not fully complied with the requirement that the Council of Governors, led by the
Chair, should periodically assess its own performance.

The merger resulted in the Council of Governors having a new composition and membership. It, too will
also undertake its first evaluation in 2019/20.

The Council has continued, however, to report at all of its public meetings on how it has discharged its
responsibilities in holding the Non-Executive Directors to account and engaging with members.

Board of Directors and Council of Governors

Other disclosures relating to the Board of Directors and its committees are in the report into our Board of

Directors, which begins on page 50. Disclosures relating to the Council of Governors and its committees
from page 83 onwards.

Our membership

Eligibility requirements for joining different membership constituencies

Our Trust has two types of member: public and staff. Public members are people aged 16 years or over
who live in Essex or Suffolk and have registered to become a member. Staff members are automatically
registered when they join the Trust and include any employee and volunteers.

Public membership and staff membership significantly increased following the merger, as Ipswich’s
sleeper membership merged with Colchester's membership. Since then, a membership and engagement
officer has been appointed and has boosted membership recruitment. At the same time, a data cleanse
was carried out by the external organisation which manages the Trust's membership database.

At March 2019, ESNEFT had 11,019 public members and 10,823 staff members.

The public members are spread across the geographical area as follows:
Public membership Number
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Colchester 2,574
Ipswich 2,278
Rest of Essex 2,689
Rest of Suffolk 3,300
Out of area (including Suffolk) N/A

Age profile of our public members

As with many NHS foundation trusts, there is under-representation of public members between the ages
of 16 and 49 years, although efforts have been made to start rectifying this by making links with local
academic institutions.

We have more public members aged 60 years and above than is representative of the geographical area
we serve. Ideally, each pair of columns in the chart would be the same height to be truly representative
of our population. Please note that people aged under 16 are not eligible to be members.
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Rest of Essex
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Over representation starts at the age of 40 in Colchester and Ipswich and at the age of 50 for the rest of
Essex and Suffolk regions. However, efforts have been made below these age groups to close the

under-represented age gaps.

Public membership demography

According to population data, we have far more public members than is representative in the middle
class categories. In the semi and skilled labourers group, we are almost proportionately represented
across all areas, while there are slight variations in the other categories across all four regions. Ideally,

each pair of columns in the chart would be the same height to be truly representative of our population.

The National Readership Survey social grades are a system of demographic classification:

A = Higher managerial, administrative or professional
B = Intermediate managerial, administrative or professional

C1 = Supervisory or clerical and junior managerial, administrative or professional

C2 = Skilled manual workers
D = Semi-skilled and unskilled manual workers
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E = Casual or lowest grade workers or those who depend on the welfare state
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As the map below shows, there are densely populated centres of membership at our main hospitals and
community bases, including Colchester, Clacton, Harwich, Halstead, Ipswich, Felixstowe and Aldeburgh.

Although some of members live outside of the blue area, which is where our external membership
database team consider our boundaries to be, they are not be able to vote or stand for election to the
Council of Governors.

Contacting our membership office

Members and the public can contact Governors through the membership office by calling 01206 742347
or emailing ft.membership@esneft.nhs.uk
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Council of Governors

The Council of Governors represents the interests of the public and employees through its elected
Governors and appointed stakeholder Governors.

Directors and Governors working together

The Council of Governors continues to provide an effective local accountability role for the Trust,
ensuring that patients, service users, staff and stakeholders are linked in to the Trust’s strategic
direction. It has proved to be an effective and highly-valued critical friend of the organisation, working
with the Board of Directors to develop plans for the Trust.

The Council of Governors acts as a consultative and advisory forum to the Board. It provides a steer on
how the Trust can carry out its business and helps it develop long-term strategic plans consistent with
the needs of the community it serves. The council also acts as guardian to ensure that the Trust
operates in a way that fits with its statement of purpose and is expected to hold the Non-Executive
Directors, individually and collectively, to account for the performance of the Board of Directors.

The other statutory duties of the Council of Governors are:

¢ the appointment and, if appropriate, removal of the Chair and other Non-Executive Directors

e the remuneration and allowances and other terms and conditions of office of the Chair and the
other Non-Executive Directors

e the approval of the appointment of the Chief Executive

¢ the appointment and, if appropriate, removal of the auditor

e the receiving of the Trust’s Annual Accounts, any report of the auditors on them and the Annual
Report at a general meeting of the Council of Governors

o the approval of a significant transaction as defined in the Trust’s constitution, or an application by
the Trust to enter into a merger, acquisition, separation or dissolution

¢ adecision on whether the Trust's non-NHS work would significantly interfere with its principal
purpose, which is to provide goods and services for the Health Service in England, or performing
its other functions

e approval of amendments to the Trust’s constitution

Membership engagement

Council of Governors elections were held in June 2018 for the newly constituted membership areas of
the Trust which came into being on 1 July as a result of the merger. The previous Council of Governors
had been in place since January 2018. The main focus of the council to June 2018 was the approval of
the merger and the related constitutional changes.

Governors are encouraged to engage with members by taking part in local health forums and patient
groups. Within the Trust, they participate in a programme of activities which includes ward walkabouts,
task and finish groups and links to staff engagement initiatives.

The main engagement priority up to June 2018 was the merger. Governors were encouraged to take part
in the engagement events with the public to discuss the proposals and consider their views. Governors
also engaged with local patient participation groups and have continued to undertake walkabouts of the
hospital, talking to patients, carers and families.

As more than 70% of the newly-elected Council of Governors were new to the Trust, the main focus
since June 2018 has been on induction and orientation.
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Governors have been actively involved in the development of ESNEFT’s strategy. They will continue to
support staff, public and membership engagement activities following its approval by the Trust Board and
the implementation of its delivery plans.

Committees and panels

There are two sub-committees of the Council of Governors: the Appointments and Performance
Committee and the Standards Committee. Governors are invited to regular informal meetings with the
Chair to discuss a wide range of issues, from planning and operations, through to governance and
accountability arrangements relating to the Board of Directors.

Governors and Directors are actively encouraged to attend each other’s public meetings to gain insight
into each other’s activities and responsibilities. In addition, a joint confidential meeting also took place to
give the Council of Governors and Board the opportunity to discuss ESNEFT’s strategy and give
governors the opportunity to feed back their views and those of members and stakeholders

Governor representatives also attended the following Board committees as observers:
Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee

Finance and Performance Assurance Committee

People and Organisational Development Assurance Committee

Charitable Funds and Sponsorship Committee.

Governors also met regularly at the following working groups:
e Transaction Working Group (a task and finish group from February to June 2018)
e Strategy and Membership Group

Standards Committee

The Standards Committee is responsible for reviewing the Governors’ Code of Conduct and enforcing it
through:

e receiving and reviewing complaints and grievances against individual or groups of Governors

e considering any allegations of failure by a governor to comply with the Trust’s constitution or
guidance issued by any regulatory authority

e assessing allegations that Governors have breached the Governors’ Code of Conduct.

There were no referrals made to the Standards Committee during 2018/19 and therefore the committee
did not meet.

Appointments and Performance Committee

The Appointments and Performance Committee is responsible for advising the Council of Governors on
the appointment, termination, performance and remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors (including
the Chair).

The committee met on five occasions during 2018/19 and convened two appointment panels for the

appointment of seven Non-Executive Directors to the Board. Six were appointed from 1 November 2018,
with the final NED appointed in March 2019, with a start date of 4 April 2019.
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Members and meetings attended in brackets:

David White (2/2), Michael Horley (4/5), Janet Brazier (3/4), Elizabeth Smith (1/1), James Cheung (0/1),
Chris Hall (1/1), Donna Booton (2/4), Helen Vanstone (2/2), Michael Loveridge (4/4), Gordon Scopes
(4/4), Jennifer Rivett (3/3), Ralph Nation (0/1), Lynda McWilliams (0/1), Gordon Jones (2/4), Anthony
Rollo (0/4), Isaac Ferneyhough (1/4) and Sharmila Gupta (0/2).

About the Governors

Elected public Governors (1 April to 30 June)

There were two Councils of Governors in place during 2018/19. From 1 April to 30 June, the council
represented the constituencies of Colchester Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. Following the merger on 1
July, a new council was appointed representing the new constituencies of East Suffolk and North Essex
NHS Foundation Trust.

Colchester ' Tendring Halstead and Colne Valley
Michael Horley (Lead Elizabeth Smith Janet Brazier

Governor)

Andrew May Peter Jackson David Gronland

Chris Hall Roy Raby

Yaa Dankwa Ampadu-

Sackey

Eric Prince

Rest of Essex ' Suffolk and South Norfolk

Vacancy Jane Young

Elected staff Governors (1 April to 30 June)

Medical and dental Nursing and Allied health Support staff
midwifery professionals/
healthcare scientists
Sharmila Gupta Donna Booton Richard Allen Ralph Nation
Anna Swan

Appointed stakeholder Governors (1 April to 30 June)

Under the constitution for Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust, appointed governors did
not have a fixed term.

Colchester Borough Council: Cllr Helen Chuah was appointed in August 2015

Tendring District Council: Clir Lynda McWilliams was appointed in September 2010

Essex County Council: Cllr Carlo Guglielmi was appointed in August 2017

Colchester Garrison: Major Gareth Mason was appointed in November 2016; Major Royston
Dove was appointed in June 2018

¢ University of Essex and Anglia Ruskin University: Professor Jo Jackson was appointed in August
2016 to represent both universities

Elected public Governors (from 1 July)
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| Colchester I

Chris Hall Susan Hayes

Joanna Kirchner Joanne Thain

Michael Horley lan Marsh

Paul Ellis Jenny Rivett

Elizabeth Smith Helen Vanstone (resigned February 2019)
Jane Young Gillian Orves

Janet Brazier David Welbourn

Michael Loveridge John Alborough

John Price Gordon Scopes

Elected staff Governors (from 1 July)

Colchester and Essex Ipswich and Suffolk
Isaac Ferneyhough Tonia Evans

Donna Booton Louise Palmer
Sharmila Gupta Joanne Garnham

Appointed stakeholder governors (from 1 July)

Under the ESNEFT constitution, appointed governors have a fixed term of three years and a maximum
of nine consecutive years.

e Colchester Borough Council and Tendring District Council: Clir Helen Chuah was appointed in
July 2018 for a second term of office to represent both councils

o Essex County Council: Cllr Carlo Guglielmi was appointed in July 2018 for a second term of office

e Colchester Garrison: Major Royston Dove was appointed in June 2018

e University of Essex and Anglia Ruskin University: Vikki-Jo Scott was appointed in July 2018 to
represent both universities

e Essex Healthwatch: David Sollis was appointed in October 2018

e Ipswich Borough Council and Suffolk Coastal District Council: Clir Neil Macdonald was appointed
in February 2019

e Suffolk County Council: Clir Gordon Jones was appointed in July 2018

e University of Suffolk: this position is vacant

o Suffolk Healthwatch: Anthony Rollo was appointed in July 2018

Register of interests

All Governors are asked to declare any interests on the register of governors’ interests at the time of their
appointment or election. This register is reviewed and maintained by the foundation trust office, and is
available for inspection by members of the public. Anyone who wishes to see the register or get in touch
with a Governor should contact the foundation trust office by calling 01206 747474.

Council of Governor meetings

There were five meetings of the Council of Governors: 14 June, 22 June, 4 October, 29 November and 7

March. The meetings were chaired by David White (4/5) and Jude Chin (1/1).

Governor attendance at Council of Governors meetings
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Name Attended Name Attended
Janet Brazier 5/5 Vikki-Jo Scott 2/2
Michael Horley 5/5 Michael Loveridge 3/3
David Gronland 2/2 Gordon Scopes 3/3
Yaa Dankwa 2/2 Gordon Jones 1/3
Ampadu-Sankey

Andrew May 2/2 Helen Vanstone 2/2
Eric Prince 2/2 Isaac Ferneyhough 2/3
Elizabeth Smith 5/5 John Price 2/3
Roy Raby 2/2 Tony Rollo 2/3
Jane Young 2/5 Sue Hayes 1/3
Richard Allen 1/2 Jenny Rivett 3/3
Ralph Nation 2/2 Paul Ellis 2/3
Anna Swan 2/2 John Alborough 3/3
Sharmila Gupta 3/5 David Welbourn 3/3
Donna Booton 3/5 Gillian Orves 3/3
Helen Chuah 3/5 lan Marsh 2/3
Jo Jackson 2/2 Joanne Thain 0/3
Lynda McWilliams 2/2 Joanne Garnham 0/3
Peter Jackson 0/2 Tonia Evans 0/3
Chris Hall 3/5 Louise Palmer 1/3
Joanna Kirchner 1/3

The Council of Governors did not exercise its power under the Health and Social Care Act to require one
or more of the Directors to attend a governors’ meeting for the purpose of obtaining information about the
foundation trust’s performance of its functions or the Directors’ performance of their duties.
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Regulatory ratings

NHSI Single Oversight Framework for NHS providers

Since 1 April 2013, all NHS foundation trusts need a licence from NHS Improvement (NHSI) stipulating
specific conditions they must meet to operate, including financial sustainability and governance
requirements.

Since October 2016, NHSI has overseen compliance with these arrangements through the Single
Oversight Framework for NHS providers. The framework is used to assess the Trust’'s compliance
across five themes:

quality of care

finance and use of resources
operational performance

strategic change

leadership and improvement capability

Using this approach, NHS segments individual trusts according to the level of support each trust needs.
ESNEFT has been placed in segment three, which reflects that the Trust is receiving mandated support
due to significant concerns and has agreed enforcement undertakings with NHSI.

The aim of an NHSI assessment under the Single Oversight Framework is to ensure that the regulator
identifies the level of support each trust needs across the five themes. This, in turn, will provide the Trust
and NHSI with the information it needs to help attain and maintain CQC ratings of “good” or
“outstanding”.

Risk of any other non-compliance with terms of authorisation

The Trust was issued with a Section 106 letter in January 2018 on the basis that NHSI had reasonable
grounds to suspect that the licensee has provided and is providing healthcare services for the purposes
of the NHS in breach of the following conditions of its licence: FT4(5)(b),(c),(e) and (f).

These terms are detailed in the licence which can be found at:
www.gov.uk/government/groups/colchester-hospital-university-nhs-foundation-trust

There is an improvement programme in place to ensure that the Trust meets the undertakings agreed
with NHSI on the publication of the Section 106 letter. The ongoing review of risks did not identify any
further significant risks to compliance with the Trust’s terms of authorisation.

Mandatory service risk

The Trust’s Board of Directors is satisfied that:

¢ all assets needed for the provision of mandatory goods and services are protected from disposal,

e plans are in place to maintain and improve existing performance,

e the Trust has adopted organisational objectives and is now measuring performance in line with
these objectives, and

e the Trust is investing in change and capital estate programmes which will improve clinical
processes, efficiency and, where required, release additional capacity to ensure it meets the
needs of patients.
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CQC compliance

East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust has not been inspected by the Care Quality

Commission since it was formed.

Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust (CHUFT) was last inspected in July 2017 and
received a “requires improvement” rating. The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust (IHT) was last inspected
between August and October 2017 and received a rating of “good”.

Individual services were rated as follows:

Service CHUFT IHT
Maternity and gynaecology Good Good
Medical care (including older people’s care) | Good Good
Urgent and emergency services (A&E) Requires Good
improvement
Surgery Good Good
Intensive/ critical care Good Good
Services for children and young people Good Good
End of life care Good Good
Outpatients Requires Good
improvement
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Statement of the Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities

Statement of the Chief Executive's responsibilities as the Accounting Officer of East
Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust

The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief Executive is the Accounting Officer of the Trust. The relevant
responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of
public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the
NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by NHS Improvement.

NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers conferred on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006, has given
Accounts Directions which require East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust to prepare for
each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis required by those directions.
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and expenditure, total
recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the
Department of Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting Manual and in particular to:

e Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS Improvement, including the relevant accounting
and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis.

¢ Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis.

e State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual (and the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual)
have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements.

e Ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated authorities
and guidance.

¢ Confirm that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary for patients, regulators and stakeholders
to assess the NHS foundation trust’s performance, business model and strategy.

e Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Trust and to enable him to ensure that the
accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above-mentioned act. The Accounting Officer is also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, | have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in the
NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

L,

Nick Hulme
Chief Executive
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Annual Governance Statement

Scope of responsibility

As Accounting Officer, | have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which | am personally responsible, in
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. | am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS
foundation trust is administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently
and effectively. | also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Accounting Officer Memorandum.

The purpose of the system of internal control

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate
all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore provide only reasonable and
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of
East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being
realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically. The system of internal control has been in place at ESNEFT for the year ended 31 March
2019 and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Annual Accounts.

Capacity to handle risk

The overall responsibility for risk management within the Trust rests with me and the Executive
Management Team, along with requirements to meet all statutory requirements and adhere to the
guidance issued by NHSI and the Department of Health in respect of governance.

The Trust has established an Executive Risk Oversight Committee with a remit to ensure the adequacy
of structures, processes and responsibilities for identifying and managing key risks facing the
organisation prior to discussion at the Board. This includes oversight of the Board Assurance Framework
(BAF), the Trust-wide risk register and divisional risk registers. This committee is chaired by the Deputy
Chief Executive and supported by the Director of Governance, who is the Board lead for risk
management.

The Trust’s principal and strategic risks are captured in the BAF, which is used to inform the risk
priorities of the Board and the four main assurance committees (the Audit and Risk Assurance
Committee, the Finance and Performance Assurance Committee, the People and Organisational
Development Assurance Committee and the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee). The
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee has a further duty to review the Trust’s internal financial controls
and the Trust’s internal control and risk management systems.

Day-to-day management of risks is undertaken by operational management, who are charged with
ensuring that risk assessments are undertaken proactively throughout their area of responsibility, and
remedial action carried out where problems are identified and incidents reported indicating a potential
weakness in internal control. These are captured in divisional risk registers, which are discussed in
divisional governance meetings and the Executive Risk Oversight Committee, ensuring that the issues
facing the divisions are being recognised and captured corporately. Trust-wide issues are captured in the
Trust-wide risk register which, when discussed concurrently with the divisional risk registers in Executive
Risk Oversight Committee meetings, ensure that there is appropriate escalation to the BAF, ensuring
that it remains an up-to-date tool to inform the Board of Directors and its assurance committees for risks
where there are difficulties in implementing mitigations.
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All staff members are trained in risk management at a level relevant to their role and responsibilities.
Staff also have access to additional support and education to ensure they have the necessary skills and
knowledge and are competent to identify, control and manage risk within their work environment. All
newly-appointed staff receive training at the compulsory corporate induction day, which includes their
personal responsibilities as well as the necessary information and training to enable them to work safely
and to recognise risk.

All policies relating to risk management are available on the intranet in the policy section,

with support available from the Risk and Compliance Team. The BAF and Corporate Risk Register are in
the public domain as part of the papers discussed during public Board meetings, which enables public
stakeholders to be aware of potential risks which may impact on them.

The Risk and Control Framework

The risk management policy (see page 36) sets out the Trust’s approach to managing risk, describes the
structures for the management and ownership of risk and explains its risk management processes.
Leadership for risk is driven by the Board of Directors through the BAF, which keeps the Board informed
of the key strategic risks affecting the Trust.

Following the acquisition of The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust by Colchester Hospital University NHS
Foundation Trust in July 2018, a transitional BAF was established to cover the new Trust. The structure
of the transitional BAF is consistent with those of the previous Trusts as it covers the principal risks, key
controls, gaps in control, gaps in assurance, movements in the risk profile and actions to reduce risks to
an acceptable level. There is clear ownership over who is the senior Board-level risk owner and over
which assurance committee oversees the assurance process for each risk.
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The Board has considered and agreed the principles regarding the risk that the Trust is prepared to
seek, accept or tolerate in the pursuit of its objectives and has captured these in its Risk Appetite
Statement.

Financial

The Trust has a flexible view of financial risk when making medium to long-term business decisions with
transformative potential and is prepared to make bold, but not reckless, decisions, minimising the
potential for financial loss by managing risks to a tolerable level.

For other financial decisions, the Trust takes a cautious position, with value for money as the primary
concern. However, the Trust is willing to consider other benefits or constraints and will consider value
and benefits, not just the cheapest price. Resources are allocated in order to capitalise on opportunities.

Compliance/Regulatory

The Board has a minimal to cautious risk appetite when it comes to compliance and regulatory issues.
Where the laws, regulations and standards are about the delivery of safe, high quality care, or the health
and safety of the staff and public, it will make every effort to meet regulator expectations and comply with
them and will only challenge them if there is strong evidence or argument to do so and the gain will
outweigh the adverse consequences.

Innovation

The Board has a flexible view of innovation that supports quality, patient safety and operational
effectiveness. Its strategic objective to embrace new ideas to deliver new, technology enabled, financial
viable ways of working leads it to pursue innovation and challenge current working practices. It is willing
to devolve responsibility for non-critical decisions on the basis of earned autonomy.

Quality

The Board has a cautious view of risk when it comes to patient safety, patient experience or clinical
outcomes and places the principle of “no harm” at the heart of every decision it takes. It is prepared to
accept some risk if, on balance, the benefits are justifiable and the potential for mitigation is strong.
When taking decisions involving choices between a wide range of outcomes, it will prioritise the option
resulting in the greatest benefit for the most patients.

Infrastructure

The Board will take a measured approach when investing in building and equipment maintenance and
replacement, based on informed analysis and assessment of risk, but may take informed risks if there
are identifiable mitigations that can provide reasonable alternative protection.

Workforce

The Board is prepared to take decisions that would have an effect on staff morale if there are compelling

arguments supporting change, including some decisions with a high inherent risk if there is a potential
higher reward.

Reputation
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The Board’s view over the management of the Trust’s reputation is that it is willing to take high to
significant risks and is willing to take decisions that are likely to bring scrutiny to the organisation where
the potential benefits outweigh the risks and sees new ideas as potentially enhancing the reputation of
the organisation.

Commercial

The Board has a flexible view of commercial risk. It is willing to pursue business opportunities with the
potential for high returns alongside commercial activities of a more established nature, taking a balanced
view of risk and reward and on the basis of earned autonomy.

The Risk Appetite Statement was agreed at a public meeting of the Board in November 2018 and is
incorporated in the Trust’s Risk Strategy.

During 2018/19, the Trust saw its principal risks as follows:

¢ If we do not have in place effective organisational management, then we may not be able to fully
mitigate the variance and volatility in financial performance against the plan, leading to failure to
deliver the control total and impacting on cash flow and long-term sustainability as a going
concern.

o If we do not establish systematic processes for identifying, measuring and delivering cost
improvement opportunities and leveraging transformational change, then we will not deliver the
cost improvement programme in the financial year or create long-term opportunities for
sustainability, which may lead to failure to deliver the control total and impact on cashflow and
long-term sustainability as a going concern.

¢ If we do not fully engage our staff on the improvement journey, then they may fail to make a
positive contribution to change, which may limit the sustainability of improvements made.

¢ If we do not have in place robust processes for recording activity, then we may have inaccuracies
for clinical use and reported activity, which may lead to information gaps regarding patient
diagnosis, care and treatments, tracking of patient pathways and coding inaccuracies. This would
impact on our external data submissions, such as contract reporting, HSMR and regulatory
submission.

¢ If we do not transform pathology services, then we may fail to achieve quality and cost
improvements leading to suboptimal service impacting on patient care and our relationship with
our partners.

¢ If we do not have sufficient nursing staff on duty, then there may be delayed or rushed care for
patients that may lead to poor patient experience, potential clinical harm, delays in patient flow
and poor job satisfaction.

¢ If we do not transform through our strategy and its delivery, then we will be unable to achieve
long term sustainability leading to further regulatory intervention.

e If activity growth exceeds capacity assumptions based on the 2018/19 contract and legacy issues
are not addressed, then we may not have sufficient capacity to assess and treat people in a
timely manner affecting system resilience and internal efficiencies, patient safety and delivery of
contractual performance (four hour standard, RTT 18 weeks, cancer and diagnostics within six
weeks.

These risk issues, the key controls in place to manage them and the actions in hand to further reduce
their likelihood and impact were discussed at the Trust's Executive Risk Oversight Group meetings,
meetings of the Board’s assurance committees and at Board meetings.

Risks are identified through many sources such as risk assessments, clinical benchmarking, audit data,

clinical and non-clinical incident reporting, complaints, claims, patient and public feedback, stakeholder
and partnership feedback and internal/external assessment, including CQC inspection reports.

100



Annual Report, Annual Accounts and Quality Report 1 April 2018 — 31 March 2019

At East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust, we believe that every incident offers an
opportunity to learn. The reporting of incidents is a fundamental building block in achieving an open,
transparent and fear-free way of fulfilling this aim. Our structures and frameworks promote learning,
escalation, treatment and mitigation of, or from, risk.

East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements
of the CQC.

The Trust has in place effective systems and processes which assure the Board that staffing is safe,
sustainable and effective, ensures provision of a quality service and that care and treatment needs are
met. The Trust reviews it staffing establishments in line with NQB guidance, assessing that the right
number and skill mix of staff are available to meet the needs of people using the service. This review
includes use of evidence-based tools where available, such as SNCT, national guidance, reviews of
quality measure and outcomes and professional judgement.

We have an electronic roster system in place for nursing staff which details the type and number of staff
that are required to ensure there are suitably qualified, competent, skilled and experienced staff to meet
patients’ care and treatment needs effectively. We work in partnership with bank and agency providers to
fill gaps in our rotas.

Professional teams carry out daily staffing reviews (risk assessments) in line with standard operating
procedure. These take into account staff numbers, skill mix and competencies, patient acuity and
dependency and activity. Where indicated, staff are used flexibly to provide cover and any risks are
formally escalated for action to the staffing co-ordinator, while the senior manager on call is also
informed.

The Trust has an agreed set of workforce performance metrics which are RAG rated against expected
performance. These are reported to the Board of Directors within the monthly integrated performance
report. Where a metric is below target, remedial actions are included in the report and, where necessary,
overseen by a Board assurance committee. Where such mitigations are insufficient to address the gap,
business continuity plans are enacted with escalation to the Director on call.

ESNEFT will present its first nursing and midwifery establishment and skill mix review to the Board of
Directors in June 2019, which will include recommendations from the Chief Nurse to ensure safe and
effective staffing. We are also reviewing medical staffing levels as part of our clinical strategy work, and
some service areas have developed Trust-wide posts to improve the sustainability of medical cover.
Rotas for trainee doctors across the Trust are monitored for compliance, with oversight from the
Guardian of Safe Working whose work is overseen by the People and Organisational Development
Committee. With any review of staffing, the Chief Nurse and Chief Medical Officer will present their
assessment to the Board on whether staffing governance processes are safe and sustainable. Updates
on safe staffing will be presented bi-yearly thereafter. All changes to skill mix and introduction of new
roles undergo a quality impact assessment which is signed off by the Chief Nurse and Chief Medical
Officer.

ESNEFT has an annual workforce plan which is submitted to the Board of Directors and NHSI on an
annual basis, in line with guidance. The Trust is currently developing it medium and long term workforce
strategy.

The Trust has published an up-to-date register of interests for decision-making staff within the past
twelve months, as required by the ‘Managing Conflicts of Interest in the NHS’ guidance. The trust
continues to strengthen the process and embed within the organisation.

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures are in

place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme regulations are complied with. This
includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the scheme

101



Annual Report, Annual Accounts and Quality Report 1 April 2018 — 31 March 2019

are in accordance with the scheme rules, and that member pension scheme records are accurately
updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the regulations.

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the Trust’s obligations under equality, diversity and
human rights legislation are complied with. This includes carrying out equality impact assessments to
provide assurance that consultations relating to changes to any of our functions and services are not
discriminatory. Where any remedial action is identified by the assessment, we develop and implement an
action plan to address this.

The Trust has carried out risk assessments and put carbon reduction delivery plans in place in
accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements, as based on UK Climate
Projections 2018 (UKCIP18). The Trust ensures that its obligations under the Climate Change Act and
the adaptation reporting requirements are complied with.

Corporate Governance Statement

The Trust’s risk and governance frameworks as described in this statement ensure that the organisation
can confirm the validity of its corporate governance statement as required under NHS foundation trust
condition 4(8)(b). The Trust Executive Team carries out regular risk assessments of its compliance with
these conditions and flags for the Board’s attention those areas where action is required. The corporate
governance statement itself, with a summary of the evidence supporting it, is reviewed by the Board of
Directors. This was last reviewed by the Board at its meeting on 29 May 2018.

Never events

Never events are “serious, largely preventable patient safety incidents which should not occur if the
available preventative measures have been implemented by the healthcare provider”.

The Trust reported seven serious incident never events in 2019/20. They were:

wrong site surgery (2)

wrong implant / prosthesis (2)

wrong site local anaesthetic block

wrong route administration of medication
retained foreign object post-procedure

We continue to proactively report our never events and compliance against the WHO Safer Surgery
Checklist to the Board and the Quality and Patient Safety Committee every month.

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources

The Trust has a range of processes in place to ensure that resources are used economically, efficiently
and effectively. This includes clear and effective management and supervision arrangements for staff,
regular reporting to the Board on quality, operational performance and finance, with further review and
scrutiny on a monthly basis at meetings of the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee, the
Finance and Performance Assurance Committee and the People and Organisational Development
Assurance Committee.

The Trust has an agreed risk-based annual audit programme with its internal auditors. These audit
reports are aimed at evaluating the Trust’s effectiveness in operating in an efficient and effective manner
and are focused on reviewing its operational arrangements for securing best value and optimum use of
resources in respect of the services the organisation provides.
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For 2018/19, the Trust delivered a surplus of £33m. The plan for 2019/20 is a deficit of £8.6m, with a
requirement of £8.5m in revenue cash support from the Department of Health and Social Care. During
2019/20, the Trust’s financial control total will be £8.6m. To deliver this control total, a cost improvement
programme of £31.9m needs to be delivered which may be in the form of planned cost reductions, as set
out at the start of the financial year, or through cost avoidance, which may be necessary to mitigate any
underachievement of the plan during the year. Recognising the size of the cost reductions, the Trust is
gearing up robust measures for monitoring and in particular escalation and recovery arrangements to
mitigate slippage of deliver, particularly during the transition phase.

Following the merger of Colchester and Ipswich hospitals, the Trust has continued to seek economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources, particularly with regard to its decision-making
processes and sustainable resource deployment. The merger and the immediate post-merger
implementation programme, along with the implementation of tighter management and control over
quality, operational efficiency and finance has strengthened the Board’s confidence in the Trust’s
strategy and operational delivery.

Information governance

The Trust has a designated SIRO (the Director of ICT) who has responsibility for data security as the
champion for information risk. The SIRO aims to mirror the model prescribed by central Government’s
Cabinet Office. Following this best practice approach allows for uniformity across the public sector as it
strives to meet the competing demands of further transparency and public/private engagement in
contrast to increased cybersecurity threats and the need to prevent data leakage. By treating information
as a business priority and not as an ICT or technical issue, the Trust can ensure that risks are
addressed, managed and capitalised upon.

The Trust currently reports key IT controls relating to data and cyber security to the Audit and Risk
Committee and is planning for Cyber Essentials Plus accreditation in 2021. We also act on any advice
from the NHS Digital CareCert Information Sharing Portal on Cyber Security, and have increased our
cyber security precautions by appointing a dedicated IT security manager who is a certified information
systems security professional. We have reported no significant cyber security incidents in the past year.

The Trust submitted the Data Protection and Security Toolkit in March 2019 for 2018/19 and complied
with all mandatory assertions.

The Data Protection Officer has investigated 196 potential personal data breaches, four of which were
reportable to the Information Commissioner’s Office. No further action was taken in any of the cases.

Data Protection Act subject access requests are managed in accordance with GDPR. We received
substantial assurance in 2019/20 on an internal audit following the change in the law during 2018, which
recognises that the process of capturing and reporting any breaches is operating effectively.

Training is aligned with General Data Protection Act. Information Governance Freedom of Information
Act training has been redesigned to take account of changes in the law during the year, while mandatory
awareness training for all employees has and will continue to take place.

The Trust carried out an assessment of its compliance with the data security and protection toolkit, the
outcome of which was a compliance score of satisfactory.

Annual Quality Report

The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Accounts)
Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality Reports for each financial year. NHSI has issued
guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual Quality Reports which
incorporate the above legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.
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ESNEFT places high priority on the quality of its clinical outcomes, patient safety and patient experience
and strives to deliver the principles outlines in NHSI’s well-led framework.

Indicators relating to the Quality Report were identified following a process which included consultation
with its Council of Governors and Board of Directors, and appropriate internal and external audit
arrangements were put in place to ensure the accuracy of the data. The Chief Nursing Officer is the
Executive Director responsible for patient safety and patient experience, and the Chief Medical Officer is
responsible for clinical effectiveness. The Associate Director of Clinical Governance provides further
leadership and support for the quality and governance agenda.

The executive governance structure supporting the guality agenda was reviewed in advance of forming
ESNEFT and set out in the Post-Transaction Implementation Programme. To support the executive
team, all aspects of quality governance report through the Patient Safety Group, Patient Experience
Group and the Clinical Effectiveness Group, with escalation through to the Executive Risk Oversight
Committee and the Executive Management Committee.

These indicators have been incorporated into the key performance indicators reported regularly to the
Board as part of the performance monitoring arrangements. Scrutiny of the information contained within
these indicators and its implication as regards to clinical outcomes, patient safety and patient experience
takes place at the Quality and Patient Safety Committee.

The inter-relationship between the indicators in the Quality Report and other measures of the Trust’s
performance (financial and operational) is reviewed monthly by the board of directors. Reviews of data
quality and the accuracy, validity and completeness of Trust information fall within the remit of the Audit
and Risk Committee, which is informed by the reviews of internal and external audit and internal
management assurances. The Board takes further assurance from the external auditor’s review of the
quality report, including the testing of data provided within the report.

As reported in the Quality Report, other plans to improve quality have included the following:

e setting up a quality improvement faculty to support quality improvement development in the new
Trust

¢ making plans to deliver the key performance indicators (KPIs) in the CQUINs agreed with
commissioners

¢ taking action to deliver improvements in the key national performance indicators, including RTT,
cancer targets and the A&E waiting time.

The Trust reported an end-of-year position of 87.07% of patients waiting under 18 weeks on incomplete
pathways against a target of 92%.

The Trust assures the quality and accuracy of its elective waiting time data through a regular validation
process internally, with additional checks by the business informatics team to ensure the data reported is
accurate. This includes ensuring all 52 week breaches have been confirmed by the service, with large
movements checked and triangulated with other recording systems. Further independent assurances are
made through internal audits of data quality, national validation programmes and third party support from
specialist organisations with validation expertise.

Review of effectiveness

As Accounting Officer, | have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control. My review is informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the executive
managers and clinical leads within the NHS foundation trust who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the internal control framework. | have drawn on the content of the Quality Report
attached to this Annual Report and other performance information available to me. My review is also
informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports. |
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have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control by the Board, the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and other assurance committees
of the Board, and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in
place.

My review is also informed by:

e assessment of financial reports submitted to NHSI,

e opinions and reports made by external auditors;

e reports made by internal auditors, including specific audit reports on governance and risk
management;

e the Head of Internal Audit opinion;

e clinical audit reports, as detailed in the Quality Report, used to change and improve clinical
practice;

e accreditations held for designated services;

¢ the Infection Control Annual Report and associated monthly reporting;

other annual reports relating to statutory reporting requirements, which include radiation safety,

safeguarding and health and safety;

investigation reports and action plans following serious and significant incidents;

departmental and clinical risk assessments and action plans;

results of national patient surveys;

results of the national NHS Staff Survey;

results of peer reviews and external quality assurance visits (including CQC activities);

Data Security and Protection Toolkit; and

Patient-Led Assessment of the Care Environment (PLACE) inspections.

The process that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control has been reviewed by:

¢ the Board; through consideration of key objectives and the management of principal risks to those
objectives within the BAF, and by reviewing all policies relating to governance and risk
management and monitoring the implementation of arrangements within the Trust;

¢ the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee; by reviewing and monitoring the opinions and reports
provided by both internal and external audit;

¢ the Quality and Patient Safety Assurance Committee; by implementing and reviewing clinical
governance arrangements and receiving reports from all operational clinical governance related
committees; and

e external assessments and peer review of services.

Head of internal audit opinion

In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS), internal audit provides the Trust
with an independent and objective opinion to the Accounting Officer, the Board of Directors and the Audit
and Risk Committee on the degree to which risk management, control and governance support the
achievement of the Trust’s agreed objectives.

Internal audit issued 17 reports during 2018/19:

e one has been given a ‘substantial’ level of assurance — General Data Protection Regulations

e 14 have been given a ‘satisfactory’ level of assurance — agency control, complaints, patient and
staff safety (including serious incidents, pharmacy stock control, assurance framework and risk
management), governance (including engagement with third parties, SSCM post-implementation,
budgetary control, creditors, debtors, financial ledger, fixed assets, treasury management and
payroll)

e one was given a ‘limited’ level of assurance — reference costs — cost transformation
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The final audit (Data Protection Security (DSP) Toolkit), was not provided with an opinion due to the
nature of the work undertaken.

The framework for monitoring and review action in response to internal audit reports is established and is
status is reported at each Audit and Risk Committee meeting.

For the 12 months ended 31 March 2019, the head of internal audit’s opinion for ESNEFT is that:
“satisfactory assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of internal control, designed
to meet the Trust’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. However, some
weakness in the design and/or inconsistent application of controls puts the achievement of particular
objectives at risk.”

The audit work undertaken during 2018/19 has been completed as part of a collaboration between
Mazars LLP and TIAA. TIAA have undertaken seven audits in the year, of which six have been finalised.
One of those finalised has been given a ‘substantial’ level of assurance (Estates Premises Assurance
Model), two were given a ‘reasonable’ level of assurance (E-Rostering and policy review), and three a
‘limited’ level of assurance (theatre utilisation — data quality — Colchester, CIPs — deep dive and ward
visits). One audit is currently in draft (outpatient’s cancellations — Colchester site).

Conclusion
In considering any significant control issues, the following have been recognised:

e Long term financial sustainability — Whilst the Trust reported a surplus in 2018/19, this
resulted from an accounting transaction relating to the acquisition of net assets from The Ipswich
Hospital NHS Trust. Without this adjustment, the Trust reported an adjusted deficit in 2018/19
and has submitted a deficit plan for 2019/20. We are not expected to achieve financial balance in
the medium term, which may impact on the expectation on us to achieve financial balance /
surplus by 2023/24. We continue to develop transformation plans to deliver patient / service
benefits whilst reducing cost.

e Access targets — Whilst we benchmark well against peers, we have yet to consistently deliver
the national access targets. We continue to work to improve performance against national
indicators, including RTT, cancer targets and the A&E waiting time.

e Pathology services — The pathology service provided by the Trust (as host for the North East
Essex and Suffolk Pathology Services) has been a cause for concern in 2018/19. This primarily
relates to quality assurance in the laboratory management processes and computer system, staff
recruitment, equipment upgrades, service accreditation and improvement in legacy logistics
functions. We have worked with West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust to put in place a plan to
address the immediate priorities and, through clinical engagement, have drafted a vision and
strategy for the services to be approved in 2019/20. The resourcing of the plan to address
immediate priorities and transform the service to deliver the strategy has and will require
additional resources.

I am confident that our internal control systems are operating well and that the work we have done to

maintain and develop our risk management system will help us to consolidate this position in the future.
The Trust is committed to the continuous improvement of processes of internal control and assurance.

L,

Nick Hulme
Chief Executive
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The Directors consider that this Annual Report, Annual Accounts and Quality Report taken as a whole
are fair, balanced and understandable and provide the information necessary for our patients, regulators
and stakeholders to assess East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust’s performance,
business model and strategy.

L,

Nick Hulme
Chief Executive
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Independent auditor’s report to the Council of Governors

Independent auditor’s report to the Council of Governors of East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation
Trust

Opinion on financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust (the Trust) for
the year ended 31 March 2019 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of
Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and as interpreted and adapted by the 2018-19 Government Financial
Reporting Manual as contained in the Department of Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting Manual 2018-19,
and the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2018-19 issued by the Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts
(‘NHS Improvement’).

In our opinion the financial statements:

e give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Trust as at 31 March 2019 and of its expenditure and
income for the year then ended;

e have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care’s Group
Accounting Manual 2018-19; and

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service Act 2006.
Basis for opinion on financial statements

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Trust in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial
Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to
report to you where:

e the Accounting Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or

e the Accounting Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt about the Trust’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised
for issue.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material

misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the
overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Matter

How we addressed the matter in the audit

Acquisition of The Ipswich Hospital Trust
(IHT)

e The Trust acquired Ipswich
Hospital on 1 July 2018. The
acquisition brought challenges to
the Trust in terms of the merger of
balances on the ledger from a
financial perspective.

e The presentation of the
acquisition and related
disclosures also needed to be
properly considered to ensure
compliance with the requirements
of the Group Accounting Manual
(GAM).

e The details of the assets and
liabilities transferred from Ipswich
Hospital are disclosed in Note 38
of the financial statements

We reviewed the Trust’s method for compiling
accounts from multiple systems and controls
operating to mitigate associated risk. We also
considered whether the control environment was
appropriate across the two hospital sites following the
acquisition.

We also reviewed the process in place to merge the
two ledger systems and confirmed that the opening
balances as at 1 July were accurate. We also ensured
that the balances from the three-month period prior
to the acquisition were correctly reflected in the newly
merged ledger.

We confirmed that the disclosures
and accounting entries made by the
Trust regarding the acquisition
complied with the requirements of the
GAM.

Valuation of Property, Plant and
Equipment (PPE)

e The calculation of the fair value of land and
buildings requires the use of judgement in
determining the appropriate assumptions
underlying the valuation and this is susceptible to
bias or error.

e The PPE disclosure is in Note 8 of the financial
statements

e Small changes in the underlying assumptions can
have a significant impact on the movements in
valuation recognised in the financial statements.

We reviewed the instructions provided to the valuer
and considered the valuer’s skills and expertise in
order to determine the extent to which we could rely
on the Management’s expert.

We assessed Management’s review of the alternative
site basis for both Hospital sites to ensure that it
remained a valid judgement within the financial
statements during 2018/19.

We reviewed indices of price movements for similar
classes of assets to determine whether any updated
valuation was required, and to ensure that fair value
of land and buildings was not materially different from
their carrying value at the balance sheet date.

We confirmed that the basis of
valuation for assets valued in year
was appropriate based on their
usage, and valuation movements
were in line with indices of price
movements.

Our application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of
misstatements. We consider materiality to be the magnitude by which misstatements, including omissions, could
influence the economic decisions of reasonable users that are taken on the basis of the financial statements.
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Importantly, misstatements below these levels will not necessarily be evaluated as immaterial as we also take
account of the nature of identified misstatements, and the particular circumstances of their occurrence, when
evaluating their effect on the financial statements as a whole.

The materiality for the financial statements as a whole was set at £9.4 million (2018 £5.1 million). This was
determined with reference to the benchmark of gross expenditure (of which it represents 1.5%) (2018 - 1.5%)
which we consider to be one of the principal considerations for the Council of Governors in assessing the
financial performance and position of the Trust.

We agreed with the Audit Committee to report to it all material corrected misstatements and all uncorrected
misstatements we identified through our audit with a value in excess of £200,000 (2018- £128,000) in addition to
other audit misstatements below that threshold that we believe warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Overview of the scope of our audit

The Trust operates as a single entity with no significant subsidiary bodies or other controlled undertakings.
Accordingly our audit was conducted as a full scope audit of the Trust.

Other information

The Accounting Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a
material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on the Remuneration Report and Staff Report

We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report and Staff Report that is subject to audit,
being:

e the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative notes;
e the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes ;

e the tables of exit packages and related notes;

e the analysis of staff numbers and related notes; and

e the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes.

In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration Report and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared
in accordance with the requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2018-19.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Qualified conclusion on use of resources

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller & Auditor General in
November 2017, with the exception of the matter reported in the Basis for qualified conclusion on use of
resources section of our report, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, the Trust has put in place
proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended
31 March 2019.
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Basis for qualified conclusion on use of resources

The Trust has a general duty under paragraph 63 of Chapter 5 of the National Service Act 2006 to exercise the
functions of the Trust effectively, efficiently and economically.

For the year ended 31 March 2019 the Trust has reported a surplus of £33m. This was largely due to the gain
arising from the transfer by absorption from the acquisition of Ipswich Hospital of £41.4m. When this is removed,
the Trust’s ‘real’ deficit is £8.4m.

Although the Trust delivered £26.6m of cost improvement plan savings, the 2019/20 agreed control total of a
deficit of £8.6m is dependent upon delivery of cost improvement plan savings of £31.8m in the year. This
represents a significant challenge for the Trust.

The Trust does not yet have plans to secure a return to a breakeven position in the medium term.
These matters are evidence of weakness in proper arrangements regarding sustainable resource deployment.
Other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the National Audit Office’s Code of Audit Practice
we report to you if we have been unable to satisfy ourselves that:

e proper practices have been observed in the compilation of the financial statements; or

e the Annual Governance Statement meets the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual and is not misleading or inconsistent with other information that is forthcoming from
the audit; or

e the Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with the detailed guidance issued by NHS Improvement.
We also report to you if:

e we have exercised special auditor powers in connection with the issue of a public interest report or we have
made a referral to the regulator under Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006; or

We have nothing to report in these respects.
Responsibilities the Accounting Officer

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities in respect of the Accounts, the
Accounting Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accounting Officer determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Accounting Officer is responsible for assessing the Trust’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Council of Governors either intends to liquidate the Trust or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Accounting Officer is also responsible for ensuring that the Trust is administered prudently and economically
and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

In respect of our audit of the financial statements our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at: https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of
our auditor’s report.

Auditor’s other responsibilities

We are also required under paragraph 1 of Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006 to be satisfied
that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must not
contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper arrangements are in place.

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Trust’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation
Trust in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the
Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust, as a
body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of
the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by the National Audit Office in April
2015. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Council of Governors of East Suffolk
and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust those matters we are required to state to it in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the NHS Foundation Trust and the Council of Governors as a body, for our audit work, for this report
or for the opinions we have formed.

&@)L

David Eagles
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
Ipswich, UK

28 May 2019

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered
number OC305127).
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FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS

East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust

These accounts, for the year ended 31 March 2019, have been prepared by East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust in
accordance with paragraphs 24 & 25 of Schedule 7 within the National Health Service Act 2006.

The Trust's accounts for 2018/19 have recorded a surplus of £33.0 million (excluding the consolidation of charitable funds). This includes
£41.4m gains arising from transfers by absorption resulting from the acquisition of The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust (IHT).

On the 1st July 2018 Colchester Hospital University NHS Foundation Trust (CHUFT) acquired The Ipswich Hospital NHS Trust, forming East
Suffolk and North Essex Foundation Trust (ESNEFT), and as such the assets, liabilities and ongoing operational income and expenditure
form part of these accounts from this date.

Acknowledging that the growth in income and expenditure significantly increased due to the in-year transaction, all of the comparisons
represent a material change.

In accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018/19, management have assessed the
organisation's ability to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future. Significant work is ongoing with NHS Improvement, local
commissioners and stakeholders to provide safe and sustainable services across the East Suffolk and North East Essex area and no decision
has been made to transfer services or significantly amend the structure of the organisation. The clinical strategy for the future has started
to be developed for public consultation during 2019/20, with a commitment that there remains a need for A&E, maternity and acute
medical services at both Colchester and Ipswich sites in the future.

The Trust has developed a plan for 2019/20 which is a deficit of £8.6m, with a requirement of £8.5m in revenue cash support from the
Department of Health and Social Care. The receipt of unplanned Provider Sustainability Funding will mitigate the short term need for
revenue cash support.

Contracts for 2019/20 have been signed with commissioners, and whilst the Trust has not yet received formal confirmation in respect of
the interim financial support it requires at the time of signing the accounts, there is a presumption that additional working capital support
will again be provided to the Trust in 2019/20. However, the Trust has made no decision to request dissolution from the Secretary of State
and has no reason to believe that financial support will not be provided.

Whilst the Trust is facing some significant challenges, the Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, still have reasonable expectation
that the Trust will have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue
to adopt the going concern basis for preparing the accounts.

N@Q i\fﬁ

Nick Hulme, Chief Executive

28 May 2019
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2019

2018/19 2017/18
Note £000 £000
Operating income from patient care activities 3 539,013 296,878
Other operating income 4 85,307 46,625
Operating expenses 7,9 (627,561) (345,058)
Operating deficit from continuing operations (3,241) (1,555)
Finance income 12 224 46
Finance expenses 13 (4,415) (1,558)
PDC dividends payable (779) (1,107)
Net finance costs (4,970) (2,619)
Other losses 14 (161) (71)
Gains arising from transfers by absorption 38 41,369 -
Surplus /(deficit) for the year 32,997 (4,245)
Other comprehensive income
Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:
Revaluations 19 (13,246) 5,346
Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the period 19,751 1,101

The notes on pages 8 to 47 form part of these accounts.
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Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Receivables
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories

Receivables
Non-current assets held for sale

Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Provisions

Other liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Borrowings

Provisions

Other liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total assets employed

Financed by
Public dividend capital
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Income and expenditure reserve
Total taxpayers' equity

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT
31 MARCH 2019

The financial statements on pages 2 to 47 were approved by the Board and signed by:

Nick Hulme, Chief Executive

28 May 2019

Note

16
17
23

22

23
24

25

26
28
30
27

28
30
27

31 March 2019

31 March 2018

£000 £000
9,942 5,749
284,393 157,272
1,691 -
296,026 163,021
9,889 4,838
67,746 31,701
4,100 4,100
15,855 9,233
97,590 49,872
(71,447) (38,923)
(94,303) (1,304)
(705) (2,210)
(3,743) (1,842)
(170,198) (44,279)
223,418 168,614
(132,692) (100,637)
(1,642) (815)
(1,954) (2,280)
(136,288) (103,732)
87,130 64,882
121,860 77,994
38,554 26,423
754 754
(74,038) (40,289)
87,130 64,882
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2018 - brought forward
Surplus/(deficit) for the year

Revaluations

Transfers by absorption: transfers between reserves

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets
Public dividend capital received
Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2019

31 MARCH 2019

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2017 - brought forward
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Revaluations
Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets
Public dividend capital received

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2018

31 MARCH 2018

Income and
Public dividend Revaluation expenditure
capital reserve Other reserves reserve Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
77,994 26,423 754 (40,289) 64,882
- - - 32,997 32,997
- (13,246) - - (13,246)
41,369 25,575 - (66,944) -
- (198) - 198 -
2,497 - - - 2,497
121,860 38,554 754 (74,038) 87,130
Income and
Public dividend Revaluation expenditure
capital reserve Other reserves reserve Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
76,764 21,132 754 (36,099) 62,551
- - - (4,245) (4,245)
- 5,346 - - 5,346
- (55) - 55 -
1,230 - - - 1,230
77,994 26,423 754 (40,289) 64,882
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2019

Note

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating surplus / (deficit)
Non-cash income and expense:
Depreciation and amortisation 7.1
Income recognised in respect of capital donations 4
Amortisation of PFl deferred credit
(Increase) / decrease in receivables and other assets
(Increase) / decrease in inventories
Increase / (decrease) in payables and other liabilities
Increase / (decrease) in provisions
Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and investment property
Sales of property, plant, equipment and investment property
Receipt of cash donations to purchase capital assets

Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received
Interim capital support loans - Received
Interim capital support loans - Repaid
Normal capital investment loan - Repaid
Interim revenue support loans - Received
Interim revenue support loans - Repaid
Movement on other loans
Capital element of finance lease rental payments
Capital element of PFl and other service concession payments
Interest on loans
Other interest
Interest paid on finance lease liabilities
Interest paid on PFl and other service concession obligations
PDC dividend (paid) / refunded
Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April -Vbrought forward

Cash and cash equivalents transferred under absorption accounting 38
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 25.1

2018/19 2017/18
£000 £000
(3,241) (1,555)
16,922 8,243
(762) (52)
(326) (326)
(8,034) (2,394)
299 36
(431) 7,819
(2,007) 1,208
2,420 12,979
224 46
(1,171) (381)
(8,206) (11,483)
54 44
498 -
(8,601) (11,774)
2,497 1,230
2,063 -
(182) (80)
(1,188) (1,188)
22,329 13,338
(4,618) (9,022)
97 -
(1,351) (97)
(622) -
(2,454) (1,499)
2 -
(1,058) (24)
(1,231) -
(2,347) (72)
11,937 2,586
5,756 3,791
9,233 5,442
866 -
15,855 9,233
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Information on reserves

Public dividend capital

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor
NHS organisation. Additional PDC may also be issued to trusts by the Department of Health and Social Care. A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the
Trust, is payable to the Department of Health as the public dividend capital dividend.

Revaluation reserve

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse impairments
previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income. Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations are
charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that a previous gain was recognised unless the downward movement represents a clear consumption of economic
benefit or a reduction in service potential.

Other reserves
Other reserves represent the balance of working capital, inventories, and plant and equipment assets transferred to the Trust as part of the disaggregation and
dissolution of Essex and Herts Community NHS Trust in 2001. The reserve is held in perpetuity and cannot be released to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Income and expenditure reserve
The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the Trust.
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Notes to the Accounts
Note 1 Accounting policies and other information

Note 1.1 Basis of preparation

NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, has directed that the financial statements of the Trust shall meet the accounting requirements of the
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual (GAM), which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the GAM 2018/19 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the GAM follow International Financial
Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.
Where the GAM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of
giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted are described below. These have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in
relation to the accounts

Note 1.1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and
certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

Note 1.2 Going concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. In accordance with IAS 1, management has made an assessment of the Trust's ability to continue as a going concern.
For the financial year commencing 1st April 2019 the Trust has forecast a deficit of £8.6 million and within this forecast is a cost improvement programme requiring £31.9 million of
efficiencies and savings. In order to fund this deficit, the Directors are seeking interim financial support for 2019/20 of £8.5 million from the Department of Health and Social Care. At
the time of writing, this interim working capital support has not been provided to the Trust and discussions are on-going with regard to this, although there is a presumption that
working capital support will once again be provided to the Trust in 2019/20 as required.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, have reasonable expectations that the Trust will have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. As directed by the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2018/19, the Directors have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis as
they consider that the services currently provided by the Trust will continue to be provided in the foreseeable future. On this basis, the Trust has adopted the going concern basis for
preparing the accounts.

Note 1.3 Interests in other entities
Colchester Hospital Charity was merged with the Ipswich Hospital Charity under a single registration under the Charity Commission to form Colchester and Ipswich Hospitals Charity.
The Trust has not consolidated the activities of the Charity, whose activities are not considered to be material.

ESNEFT is the host provider of Pathology services for West Suffolk Hospital and community as well as for ESNEFT and community.

The Trust holds no investments in associates or joint ventures.
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Note 1.4.1 Revenue from contracts with customers

Where income is derived from contracts with customers, it is accounted for under IFRS 15. The GAM expands the definition of a contract to include legislation and
regulations which enables an entity to receive cash or another financial asset that is not classified as a tax by the Office of National Statistics (ONS). As directed by
the GAM, the transition to IFRS 15 in 2018/19 has been completed in accordance with paragraph C3 (b) of the Standard: applying the Standard retrospectively but
recognising the cumulative effects at the date of initial application (1 April 2018).

Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised goods/services to the
customer and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to those performance obligations. At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating
to performance obligations satisfied in that year. Where the Trust’s entitlement to consideration for those goods or services is unconditional a contract receivable
will be recognised. Where entitlement to consideration is conditional on a further factor other than the passage of time, a contract asset will be recognised.
Where consideration received or receivable relates to a performance obligation that is to be satisfied in a future period, the income is deferred and recognised as
a contract liability.

Revenue from NHS contracts

The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners for health care services. A performance obligation relating to delivery of a spell of health
care is generally satisfied over time as healthcare is received and consumed simultaneously by the customer as the Trust performs it. The customer in such a
contract is the commissioner, but the customer benefits as services are provided to their patient. Even where a contract could be broken down into separate
performance obligations, healthcare generally aligns with paragraph 22(b) of the Standard entailing a delivery of a series of goods or services that are
substantially the same and have a similar pattern of transfer. At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating to activity delivered in that year, where a patient
care spell is incomplete.

Revenue from research contracts

Where research contracts fall under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised as and when performance obligations are satisfied. For some contracts, it is assessed that the
revenue project constitutes one performance obligation over the course of the multi-year contract. In these cases it is assessed that the Trust’s interim
performance does not create an asset with alternative use for the Trust, and the Trust has an enforceable right to payment for the performance completed to
date. It is therefore considered that the performance obligation is satisfied over time, and the Trust recognises revenue each year over the course of the contract.

NHS injury cost recovery scheme

The Trust receives income under the NHS injury cost recovery scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating injured individuals to whom personal injury
compensation has subsequently been paid, for instance by an insurer. The Trust recognises the income when it receives notification from the Department of Work
and Pension's Compensation Recovery Unit, has completed the NHS2 form and confirmed there are no discrepancies with the treatment. The income is measured
at the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less an allowance for unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts in line with
IFRS 9 requirements of measuring expected credit losses over the lifetime of the asset.
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Note 1.4.2 Revenue grants and other contributions to expenditure
Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from commissioners or trusts for the provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund
revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure.

The value of the benefit received when accessing funds from the Government's apprenticeship service is recognised as income at the point of receipt of the training
service. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, the corresponding notional expense is also recognised at the point of recognition for
the benefit.

Note 1.4.3 Other income
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale
contract.

Note 1.5 Expenditure on employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments such as social security costs and the apprenticeship levy are recognised in the period in which the service is
received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements
to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period.

Pension costs

NHS Pension Scheme

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pens